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Meeting a growing need: SCS Transpor t a t ion is  de l i ver ing for  sh ippers  

across Amer ica .  Our  mul t i reg iona l  t ruck ing companies ,  Sa ia  and Jev ic ,  focus 

on h igher -growth reg iona l  less- than- t ruck load de l i ver ies ,  a long wi th  t a rgeted 
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D E L I V E R I N G

S O L U T I O N S
More than just driving trucks, SCS Transportation is in 
business to solve supply chain needs. Does a shipper face a
narrow time window to meet customer needs? Is the shipment
fragile? Sensitive to the cold? Does a customer need real-time
tracking? We are delivering supply chain solutions. 
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D E L I V E R I N G  

P E R F O R M A N C E
Ensuring customers get our very best, SCS Transportation
tracks performance across an array of detailed measures for
operational excellence: Customer Service Indicators®, claims-
free handling, time-specific and guaranteed deliveries. With
technology to improve on-time service, and specialized equip-
ment to reduce cargo damage, we are delivering performance.



i n te r reg iona l  and se lected t ruck load sh ipments .  We of fe r  so lu t ions for  the 

spec ia l i zed supply  cha in  needs o f  our  customers  wi th  a  range of  t a i lo red products

and t ime-def in i te  serv ices .  Each and every  day,  SCS Transpor t a t ion is  de l i ver ing .
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D E L I V E R I N G

V A L U E
Excelling in a competitive service industry, SCS Transportation
knows people are the starting point in building profitable rela-
tionships. Saia and Jevic work to hire, train and retain the best,
so customers get top-quality service – and keep coming back.
We are delivering value by building customer loyalty.
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D E L I V E R I N G

G R O W T H
Building our business with strategic discipline, SCS
Transportation adds services and geography where we can
create real benefits. New product offerings and territories are
carefully designed to strengthen our relationships. We focus
on delivering growth that is good for customers, employees
and shareholders.
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S C ST at  a  g lance
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SCS Transportation is a leading 

provider of transportation and 

supply chain solutions, serving a broad base of

customers across North America. Our focus is 

regional and interregional less-than-truckload

shipments, selected truckload, time-definite and

other value-added services. Our common stock

trades on NASDAQ under the ticker symbol SCST. 

Our two operating companies, Saia and

Jevic, are committed to delivering superior 

service value for our customers, which in turn 

will produce continued growth and value for our

employees and shareholders.
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F inanc ia l  H igh l igh ts
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OPE RATI NG I NCOM E
Dol la rs  in  Mi l l i ons

EAR N I NG S PE R S HAR E B E FOR E
CU M U LATIVE E FFECT OF 
ACCOU NTI NG CHANG E

OPE RATI NG R EVE N U E
Dol la rs  in  Mi l l i ons

20042002 2003

$775.4
$827.4

$982.3

20042002 2003

$27.2

$32.9

$40.8

20042002 2003

$0.82

$0.99

$1.26

Year Ended December 31,

(Amounts in thousands, except per share data) 2004 2003 2002
STATE M E NT OF OPE RATION S

Operating revenue $ 982,270 $ 827,359 $ 775,436

Operating income (1) $ 40,834 $ 32,882 $ 27,230

Income before cumulative 
effect of accounting change $ 19,259 $ 14,933 $ 12,058

Earnings per share before cumulative 
effect of accounting change $ 1.26 $ 0.99 $ 0.82

BALANCE S H E ET DATA

Cash and cash equivalents $ 7,499 $ 30,870 $ 21,872

Total debt $ 122,810 $ 116,510 $ 116,410

Total shareholders’ equity $ 212,542 $ 189,582 $ 174,277

M EAS U R E M E NTS

Net cash provided by 
operating activities $ 54,894 $ 58,270 $ 50,439

Operating ratio (2) 95.8% 96.0% 96.5%

Net debt/total capital (3) 35.2% 31.1% 35.2%

(1) Operating expenses in 2004 include integration charges of $2.1 million relating to the integration of Clark Bros. Transfer, Inc. into Saia.
(2) The operating ratio is the calculation of operating expenses divided by operating revenues.
(3) The net debt to total capital ratio is the calculation of total debt less cash and cash equivalents divided by total shareholders’ equity plus total debt minus total cash and

cash equivalents. Due to the Company's significant cash balance, management believes net debt is a more meaningful measure of leverage to its investors than total debt.



� Saia strategically expanded its geographic reach, entering
the Midwest with an acquisition that also contributed 
positively to 2004 earnings.

� The value of SCS Transportation stock rose 33 percent
during 2004.

Our strategy is a down-to-earth approach emphasizing daily
improvement and incremental growth in the regional and 
multiregional markets served by Saia and Jevic.

Customers  a re  key.  Value begins and ends with cus-
tomers. In a service business, if customers get the quality of
service, positive experience and excellent performance they
expect, those clients will be willing to pay for value received –
and they will keep coming back.

Saia and Jevic each work hard to create loyal customers by
delivering a brand experience with real value. Our customers
nationwide include chemical and pharmaceutical companies,
manufacturers, wholesale distributors and retailers. Their 
supply chains are business-critical. 

Service quality is a foundation of our strategy. We focus 
on measuring and providing quality across a broad array 
of service indicators. We continually pursue initiatives to
enhance performance in pickup and delivery reliability, 
productivity and customer responsiveness.

Peop le  do  the  job .  Because service excellence is so
important, taking care of our own people – motivating and
equipping them to provide best-in-class service – is essential
to getting the job done.

Safety is and will always be a top priority at SCS
Transportation. In 2004, Saia and Jevic were both presented
safety awards and achieved solid results in workdays lost to
injury and miles between preventable accidents. 

We commit resources and energy to develop our organiza-
tion. Saia and Jevic provide competitive, market-based pay
and benefits. At the same time, we are investing in training
and building “bench strength” among management to 
support future growth.

Dear  Fe l low Shareho lders ,

Delivering the right goods to the right place, at just the right
time, is increasingly valued in the marketplace. We are 
committed to providing our customers with solutions to 
meet their needs.

Changes in America’s economy are creating the era of the
supply chain. The Wall Street Journal wrote recently about
manufacturers with strained supply lines shifting to high-end
transportation to get products to market on time. Competitive
pressures are rewarding manufacturers, wholesalers and
retailers for skillful distribution.

In short, demand is rising for what we do. And the people 
of SCS Transportation are ready, willing and able. 

The commitment of the transportation professionals of Saia
and Jevic, our operating companies, is to offer practical 
supply chain solutions that make a bottom-line difference 
for our customers.

Steady  progress .  In 2004, our second full year since our
September 30, 2002 spin-off, SCS Transportation delivered
results demonstrating continued steady progress:

� Revenues rose 19 percent in 2004, while earnings per
share climbed 27 percent.

Our commitment to del iver means the people  o f  SCS Transpor t a t ion do the essen-

t ia l ,  hands-on work  to  prov ide t ime ly,  sa fe ,  f lex ib le  t ranspor t a t ion .  We move “ the good

stu f f ”  Amer ican bus inesses and consumers  need.  We measure  per formance and 

Bert Trucksess

4  SCS Transportation, Inc.



Bert Trucksess
Chairman, President and CEO

Chai rman’s  Award Rec ip ients

E ight  employees earned our  2004

Chai rman’s  Award honor ing ro le  

models  a t  work  and in  the communi ty.

Honorees were nominated by  the 

pres idents  o f  Sa ia  and Jev ic  based 

on commitment  to  sa fe ty,  communi ty

serv ice ,  customer  serv ice and 

per formance improvement .  Winners

were recogn ized a t  the annua l  

shareho lders  meet ing .  The Cha i rman’s

Awards are  in  add i t ion  to  incent ive

and recogn i t ion  programs in  each o f

our  operat ing companies .

2004 recipients (top row from left): Wendy Bullock, Saia office clerk, Dallas;
Rob Elmquist, Saia city driver, Orange, Calif.; Robert Page, Saia local driver,
Springfield, Mo.; Nelson Lackings, Jevic local driver, Cincinnati; (bottom row
from left): Chris Samuel, Saia city driver, Ocala, Fla.; Todd Lingenfelter,
Jevic facility director, Houston; Laura Rowland, Jevic director of process
mgmt., Delanco, N.J.; and Charles Cowan, Saia city driver, Johnson City, Tenn.
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constant l y  th ink  about  how to  improve .  We create  innovat i ve  so lu t ions to  supply  cha in

cha l lenges .  We cont r ibute  va lue by  car ry ing the output  o f  the  wor ld ’s  s t rongest  

economy.  That ’s  our  commitment .

Shareho lders  benef i t .  Growing economic value means
generating growth in revenue and earnings – and SCS
Transportation has been delivering financially since our
2002 spin-off.

Saia and Jevic have achieved solid revenue increases and
productivity initiatives have improved our margins. This 
combination of growth and profitability improvement has
produced strong gains in core earnings in each of the last
three years. 

Shareholder value has increased each year since our spin-off.
The closing share price of $23.37 on December 31, 2004,
was nearly triple the price on our first day of trading in 2002.

Out look  and pr io r i t i es .  We are excited about the
future prospects for SCS Transportation. Importantly, we
know our profitability potential is even greater and we are
focused on achieving improved performance.

Our priorities encompass a basic and sound approach to 
creating continuous improvement and long-term value. We
expect to continue revenue growth and improvement in 
profitability in 2005 and beyond.

We look forward to delivering even greater value for 
you in the future.



Brands that deliver. Although a re lat ive ly  new corporate ent i ty,  SCS Transportat ion

boasts two recognized and respected brands – Saia and Jev ic  – that  share r ich 

h is tor ies and wel l -earned reputat ions.  With more than a century  of  combined 
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2004 R EVE N U E $645 million
2004 S H I PM E NTS 5.4 million
E M PLOYE E S 6,200
S E RVICE FACI LITI E S 127
AVE RAG E S H I PM E NT 1,300 lbs. 
AVERAGE LENGTH OF HAUL 575 miles

SAIA is a leading multiregional less-than-truckload 
carrier, providing high-quality overnight and second-
day delivery and a wide range of premium solutions.
Saia serves customers in 30 states* in the South,
Southwest, Midwest, West and Pacific Northwest.



exper ience,  these brands have become fami l ia r  s ights on Amer ica ’s  h ighways 

and va lued par tners to customers who have come to appreciate our  focus on 

re l iab i l i ty,  f lex ib i l i ty  and serv ice excel lence.
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Los Angeles

Chicago
Cincinnati

Charlotte

Atlanta

Cleveland New England

New York
Philadelphia

Houston

JEVIC offers hybrid less-than-truckload and selected
truckload services through a nontraditional Breakbulk-
Free® operating model, providing specialized care and
flexible, high-quality service solutions.

2004 R EVE N U E $337 million
2004 S H I PM E NTS 1.0 million
E M PLOYE E S 2,700
S E RVICE FACI LITI E S 10 
AVE RAG E S H I PM E NT 4,400 lbs.
AVERAGE LENGTH OF HAUL 750 miles



In the supply chain era, transportation has gone beyond just
the physical movement of freight between points. Now, it’s
about delivering between 7 and 9 a.m. Wednesday. And 
multiplying that to 500 locations to support the rollout of a
new product in retail stores. And picking up at a certain time.
And handling each shipment in a special way. And providing
technology to allow shipment visibility in support of effective
inventory management. And so on and so on.

At SCS Transportation, we are committed to deliver supply
chain solutions, partnering with customers in solving complex
business challenges.

Meet ing  t ime-de f in i te  needs .  Supply chains are all
about timing. Success means being on time from start to 
finish: materials leaving suppliers, parts leaving parts-makers,
components arriving at factories, finished goods shipping out,
products arriving in stores for consumers to buy. A growing

proportion of our customers need to guarantee those times.
So we are delivering an array of time-sensitive solutions 
tailored to diverse needs. For example:

� Saia Guaranteed Select® service lays out choices for 
delivery times: a standard published time, accelerated 
delivery, precise delivery within 30 minutes of a specific
time of day, or customized scheduling. 

� Jevic 100% Guaranteed™ service offers delivery by
customer-specified day and time, including a money back
guarantee. This time-definite option is attracting more
shippers, growing to 7 percent of Jevic revenues in 2004.

De l i ve r ing  rea l - t ime in fo rmat ion .  Transportation is
also becoming data-rich, as supply chains are driven by 
information technology. Best-in-class service includes giving
customers real-time access to track where their shipments
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D E L I V E R I N G

S O L U T I O N S

Michael Henne (right) and Larry Shipton (center) of National Starch, Hazleton,
Pa., envisioned lean and efficient production and order fulfillment. Their need –
a flexible, single-source carrier. Jevic’s Bob Galbraith (left) delivered the solution.

Each adhesive order is custom-mixed, drawn and readied for shipping in 
a single day. Jevic’s array of solutions ensures each shipment moves out 
on schedule, freeing up valuable warehouse space.
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CONTI N U E D G ROWTH I N PR E M I U M S E RVICE S
Percent age increase  2003 vs .  200 4

Both Saia and Jevic provide guaranteed, time-definite 
services, along with temperature-controlled service, 
primarily the Jevic Heat Fleet® service. Both premium 
services are growing due to customers’ ability to more
effectively manage inventory and production flow with 
these highly reliable services.

Heat Fleet® Revenue

Time-Definite Revenue

are, not to mention online scheduling of pickups, e-billing and
electronic payments. Among recent enhancements:

� Saia’s new Web Services capability enables customers to
automate the exchange of business data with us. Clients
can incorporate information like Saia shipping costs or 
real-time status of shipments directly into their websites 
for their customers’ use.

� Jevic’s driver identification system uses web technology to
enhance security in the supply chain, allowing shippers and
receivers to instantly verify the identity of a driver.

Tai lor ing equipment and services. Shippers often need
special handling for valuable cargo, and we deliver solutions by
looking proactively at handling characteristics and routing needs:

� Saia and Jevic have invested in equipment for special
needs. For example, logistics-post trailers enable Saia and

Jevic to protect cargo by packing shipments on separate
“floors” within trailers. Jevic’s Heat Fleet® trailers keep
products like chemicals and pharmaceuticals warm, so the
customers’ supply chains flow even during frigid weather.
Saia deploys city trucks with lift gates to make efficient
deliveries for a major coffee retailer.

� Jevic's JTS unit provides customers with an outlet for 
truckload business, utilizing both Jevic network capacity 
as well as outsourcing to other carriers when additional 
or specialized capacity is needed. This offers customers 
a single source to meet truckload needs.

Our goal is to position SCS Transportation at the forefront of
meeting supply chain needs. Always, we have a mindset: It’s
not just trucking – we deliver solutions.

Not all shipments are created equal – some just “have to be there.” Jevic 
100% GuaranteedTM service provides expedited and time-definite service
National Starch can count on.

This cargo needs reliable protection from freezing. Jevic's Heat Fleet® enables
National Starch to efficiently serve its customers, instead of letting weather 
dictate production and shipping schedules.

18.8%

30.7%

% increase vs. 2003
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In a competitive world, there is no standing still – so we are
committed to deliver improving service levels for customers
while increasing efficiency and productivity. We work 
proactively with our employees and customers to enhance
operating performance. 

Measur ing  exce l lence in  serv ice . Performance
improvement demands measurement, and we believe in 
measuring what is important to the customer. With the aid 
of technology, we take customers’ metrics for what matters,
apply them to our operations and allow shippers to look into
our network and see how we’re doing.

Saia has built an operational mindset around Customer
Service Indicators® (CSI’s). Six core indicators cover on-time
pickup, on-time delivery, claims-free shipments, claims 
settled in less than 30 days, proof of delivery turnaround 
and invoicing accuracy. 

The Company also developed service measures for special
cargo, such as chemicals carried by Jevic or Saia. And we
use similar measures for efficiency and responsiveness 
efforts – Saia, for example, boosted its customer service 
call center productivity over 30 percent. 

Jevic has faced service challenges because of added regulation
on drivers’ hours, periods of driver shortages and peaks in
demand. We are focusing intensely on quality measures and
managing operations for improved consistency.

Put t ing creat iv i ty  in to t ruck ing. Improving performance
can come through designing processes and investing in infra-
structure that pays off in increased efficiency and service levels.

Saia extended its rollout of a handheld dispatching system to
the majority of the network in 2004, adding an interactive
Internet browsing tool to wireless phones for drivers and 

Topping the list are on-time pick-up and delivery. Saia invested in a Nextel 
communication system, enhancing driver productivity and providing immediate
information for customers confirming pick-ups and deliveries. 

Performance has to be defined and measured with the customer in mind. Saia
uses focus groups and research to determine which service attributes are most
valued by customers. This guides our performance initiatives.

D E L I V E R I N G

P E R F O R M A N C E
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piloting a tool for yard personnel. The system improves
inbound and outbound planning, equipment utilization and
scheduling. For customers, the wireless initiative makes 
more real-time information available on shipment status 
and improves delivery times and accuracy of handling. 

Saia was honored by Information Week magazine in 2004 as 
a top 500 company for IT innovation, recognizing Saia service
offerings that include website features and real-time delivery of
customer pickup and delivery information.

Jevic partially redesigned its linehaul system in 2004. The new
system identifies the destination of shipments early, decides
which ones should stay on a single truck from pickup to delivery
under Jevic’s Breakbulk-Free® model, and designates some 
shipments that can be delivered faster by relaying with a second
driver for final delivery. In addition to improving service capability,
this method also improves our driver retention initiatives.

Reward ing  cont r ibu t ions  and cons is tency. A 
key to continuing to improve performance is recognizing and
rewarding success when we see it. Saia and Jevic have 
both been honored by customers for on-time service, claims
performance, customer service, technology, economic value 
and innovation. Within our companies, we reward employees
through a range of incentive programs, including recognizing
excellence in service, safety and operating performance.

Goals for the future include further enhancements of perform-
ance measurement and continuing to invest in people, systems
and facilities to improve service. 

We also emphasize consistency of performance. Because many
customers remember the exceptions, offering best-in-class 
service means striving to get it right every time. That’s our 
commitment to deliver.

Another key is claim-free delivery. Saia continues to invest in logistics-post
trailers, providing sturdy and flexible decks within a trailer to improve 
productivity and reduce damage while in transit. 

Saia lets the numbers speak for themselves, providing customers online 
access or detailed reports on service performance across six key attributes 
that customers have helped us define.

WHAT CUSTOM E RS HAVE TO SAY ABOUT US

“Many of our customers are using ‘just in time’
inventory. Jevic personnel know the importance
of picking up and delivering our shipments 
on-time and damage-free.”

In te rna t iona l  pharmaceut ica l  and 
chemica l  manufac tu re r

“Saia demonstrates daily attention to our 
business with the same degree of passion 
that we receive from our employee owners.”

Ma jo r  home improvement  re t a i le r



D E L I V E R I N G

V A L U E
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Value is a dollars-and-cents thing: a rate per hundred pounds,
a cost savings or revenue benefit, a profit and ultimately a
stock price. But delivering value is all about people. 

Our strategies for SCS Transportation emphasize initiatives in
two “people” areas: safety and organizational development.
Valuing our people – training, equipping, retaining and 
motivating them – is essential to providing excellent service
and growing our business.

Car ing  about  peop le ’s  s a fe ty. As a bottom-line issue
for employees and shareholders, safety is a top priority for
SCS Transportation. Among the recent highlights:

� Saia and Jevic both have invested in the Smith SystemTM 

of behavior-based training for drivers, a gold standard 
for safety management. Both communicate proactively 

with drivers and other employees, and reward best prac-
tices in safety among employees.

� Each of the operating companies ranks in the top tier of the
industry’s SafeStat ratings. Saia and Jevic both achieved
solid results in workdays lost to injury in 2004. Our 
people have repeatedly been recognized for safe practices
and the American Trucking Associations recently named
Jevic professional driver Phillip Gould one of 13 captains of
the 2005-2006 America’s Road Team, representing the
industry nationwide.

� In 2005, Saia and Jevic have committed resources to 
continuing safety improvements.

Bu i ld ing  a  robust  o rgan i za t ion .  Also important in
delivering value is a commitment by SCS Transportation to

Creating customer value begins by valuing our employees. Jim Daulerio, Jevic
Director-Safety, and Phil Jennings, Saia Director-Safety, lead the efforts to help
our drivers return home safely.

It starts with an investment in training. Both Saia and Jevic are implementing
the Smith SystemTM driver-training program, recognized as one of the most 
effective programs in the industry. 
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Russell 2000

SCST

develop our organization and give people in our companies
the resources to succeed. 

Both Saia and Jevic maintain a positive environment with 
competitive, steadily improving pay and benefits, as well as
extensive communication among employees. We devote
resources and energy to management development and 
succession planning. For example: 

� Saia provides extensive training through Saia University,
with a current focus on developing terminal management
and hiring skills. A Saia training video in 2004 was 
honored as a finalist in the 25th Annual Telly Awards 
for corporate productions.

� Saia has continued to invest in training and management
development in preparation for future growth opportunities.

� Challenged by an industrywide driver shortage, Jevic 
succeeded in strengthening driver recruiting and reducing
turnover with a series of initiatives in 2004. In addition, we
strengthened Jevic’s senior operations leadership to
enhance service and efficiency.

Bu i ld ing  our  in f ras t ruc tu re . We invest in our business
infrastructure to enable our people to be effective at what 
they do. Capital expenditures are targeted for equipment 
that supports safety, service and productivity initiatives. The
Company is also investing in real estate that will support our
future growth.

In a competitive service business, we understand that our
people are the critical ingredient in building profitable relation-
ships with customers – and delivering value for shareholders.

Follow-up training includes one-on-one attention to ensure that proper safety
procedures become habits. This kind of commitment to our people pays off in
improved performance and morale.

In 2004, both Saia and Jevic were recognized by the American Trucking
Associations for safety performance. For both employees and shareholders,
safety will always be a key priority for SCS Transportation.

DE LIVE R I NG S HAR E HOLDE R VALU E

Since our inception, SCST stock has consistently
outperformed the broad market, here compared to the
Russell 2000. Through the end of 2004, SCST stock
had appreciated 188 percent from our October 2002
start, with a 33 percent gain in 2004.
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D E L I V E R I N G

G R O W T H
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We are delivering growth, as our results demonstrate. At the
top line, 2004 revenue rose 19 percent to $982 million. At
the bottom line, net income increased 29 percent. 

The most significant event of 2004 was Saia’s successful
acquisition and integration of less-than-truckload opera-
tions in the Midwest and Plains states. This added nine
adjacent states to expand Saia’s service area to 30 
states, spanning regions from the Southeast, across the
Southwest, to the West Coast – and now north through
the heart of America.

For the future, SCS Transportation expects to continue to
grow revenues and profitability. Our strategies focus on
opportunistic expansion of geography, increased revenue in
current territory, effective yield management and disciplined
execution of cost and efficiency initiatives.

Expand ing  our  serv ice  a rea . The Saia acquisition of
Clark Bros. in 2004 gave a double boost to growth: profitable
revenue of the new operations themselves, plus the potential
to offer customers of both companies a greatly expanded
service area and a broader range of services.

The Saia acquisition added major transportation centers
such as Chicago, St. Louis, Kansas City and Minneapolis 
to the Saia service map. More than 1,600 new service 
lanes were opened in 2004 between the historical Saia
geography, including cities such as Atlanta, Memphis and
Dallas, and the Midwestern markets. Customer response
has been very favorable.

Improv ing  dens i t y  w i th in  serv ice  a rea . Increasing
market penetration in our current geography is the most direct
route to growing profitability, as well as revenues. Saia and

Expanding into the Midwest through acquisition provides an immediate 
customer and employee base in key industrial and distribution markets, 
such as Chicago, St. Louis, Minneapolis and Kansas City.

Expanding through acquisition requires rigorous planning and detailed execution.
Tony Albanese (center), Saia Sr. V.P. led a strong team, including Marty
Pudlowski (right), K.C. Region Mgr. and Ben Crawford (left), K.C. Terminal Mgr. 
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Jevic both increased the density of freight carried in existing
lanes in 2004, and this remains a continuing priority.

The expansion of Saia in 2004 gives us a platform for contin-
ued growth in 2005, as we strengthen the Saia brand in the
Midwest and customers in the expanded service area take
advantage of the broader service options and increased 
number of shipping points.

To drive organic growth, Saia and Jevic emphasize selling in
targeted lanes, or pairs of cities, that offer the most potential
for growth due to the demand and competitive landscape in
each lane. Both companies also continue to promote new
product offerings, particularly time-definite, guaranteed or 
specialized products that differentiate us from competitors.

Bu i ld ing  e f f ic iency  and pro f i t ab i l i t y. Management
decisions on the revenue and cost side can drive growth in

earnings. Both Saia and Jevic have been active in adjusting
customer mix to enhance yield and profitability, as well as 
pursuing cost efficiencies to improve operating margins.

In 2005 and beyond, we will continue to evaluate opportuni-
ties to expand Saia’s geographic reach in ways that enhance
service to customers and create value for shareholders. 
Jevic is focused on operational performance and continued
earnings growth for the next year.

We expect to invest strategically in real estate within our 
territories in 2005, expanding facilities to improve service 
performance and increase density. Our strong financial 
position continues to give us flexibility to deliver on 
growth initiatives.

Saia delivers new routing options and service offerings for customers in the
expanded geography, as well as increasing operating efficiencies. Result: grow-
ing volumes and profitability.

Geographic expansion provides new service opportunities for customers. With
the integration, Saia opened 1,600 new direct lanes between its historical 
territory and the new Midwest geography. 

DE LIVE R I NG I M PROVE D YI E LDS 
Percent age increase  in  revenue per  
hundredweight  2003 vs .  200 4

Revenue growth comes from both volume gains and 
rising yields. Strong service value, a growing economy
and effective fuel surcharge programs allowed Saia and
Jevic to increase yields in 2004, pushing dollars to the
bottom line.

3.7%

5.2%

7.1% 6.7%

LTL TL LTL TL

Jevic

Saia
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PART I. 
 

Item 1. Business 

Overview 

SCS Transportation, Inc. (SCST or the Company) is a leading transportation company that provides a variety of 
trucking transportation and supply chain solutions to a broad range of industries, including the retail, chemical and 
manufacturing industries.  Through our operating subsidiaries, Saia Motor Freight Line, Inc. (Saia) and Jevic 
Transportation, Inc. (Jevic), we serve a wide variety of customers by offering regional and interregional less-than-
truckload (LTL) services and selected national LTL, truckload (TL) and time-definite services across the United 
States.  None of our approximately 8,900 employees is represented by a union. 

We were organized in 2000 as a wholly owned subsidiary of Yellow Corporation (Yellow) to better manage its 
regional transportation business.  We became an independent public company on September 30, 2002 as a result of a 
100 percent tax-free distribution of shares to Yellow shareholders (the Spin-off).  Each Yellow shareholder received 
one share of SCST stock for every two shares of Yellow stock held as of the September 3, 2002 record date.  As a 
result of the Spin-off, Yellow does not own any shares of our capital stock. 

We operate two business segments, Saia and Jevic.  In 2004, Saia generated revenue of $645 million and operating 
income of $35.8 million.  In 2003, Saia generated revenue of $521 million and operating income of $27.7 million.  
In 2004, Jevic generated revenue of $337 million and operating income of $8.9 million.  In 2003, Jevic generated 
revenue of $307 million and operating income of $9.4 million.  Information regarding revenues and operating 
income of Saia and Jevic are contained in the notes to our audited consolidated financial statements contained in this 
annual report. 

Operating Subsidiaries 

Saia Motor Freight Line, Inc. 

Founded in 1924, Saia is a leading multi-regional LTL carrier that serves the South, Southwest, Midwest, Pacific 
Northwest and the West.  Saia specializes in offering its customers a range of regional and interregional LTL 
services including time-definite and expedited options.  Saia primarily provides its customers with solutions to 
handle shipments between 100 and 10,000 pounds, but also provides selected truckload service. 

Saia has invested substantially in technology to enhance its ability to monitor and manage customer service, 
operations and profitability.  These data capabilities enable Saia to provide its trademarked Customer Service 
Indicators ® program, allowing customers to monitor service performance on a wide array of attributes.  Customers 
can access the information via the Internet to help manage their shipments.  The Customer Service Indicators® 
(CSI’s) measure the following:  on-time pickup; on-time delivery; claim free shipments; claims settled within 30 
days; proof of delivery request turnaround; and invoicing accuracy.  The CSI’s provide both Saia and the customer 
with a report card of overall service levels. 

As of December 31, 2004, Saia operated a network comprised of 127 service facilities.  In 2004, the average Saia 
shipment weighs approximately 1,300 pounds and travels an average distance of approximately 575 miles.  In 
March 2001, Saia successfully integrated its WestEx and Action Express affiliates into its operations and expanded 
its geographic reach to 21 states. On February 16, 2004, Saia acquired Clark Bros. Transfer, Inc. (Clark Bros.), a 
Midwestern less-than-truckload carrier serving eleven states with approximately 600 employees.  The operations of 
Clark Bros. were integrated into Saia in May 2004 bringing the benefits of Saia transportation service to major 
Midwestern markets including Chicago, Minneapolis, St. Louis and Kansas City.  The expanded Saia now serves 30 
states.  Saia had approximately 6,200 employees at December 31, 2004. 

Jevic Transportation, Inc. 

Founded in 1981, Jevic is a specialized LTL transportation services provider that also offers selected TL and time-
definite services throughout the continental United States and portions of Canada.  Jevic specializes in offering its 
customers standard and customized regional transportation solutions based on its non-traditional Breakbulk-Free® 
operating model, often eliminating the need to rehandle freight at interim and destination service facilities.  In 2004, 
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the average shipment weight is approximately 4,400 pounds, and the average shipment distance is approximately 
750 miles.  Jevic had approximately 2,700 employees at December 31, 2004. 

The Jevic approach offers customers a broad line of LTL, TL and time-definite services that can accommodate a 
wider range of shipment sizes and trip lengths than traditional regional carriers.  Jevic develops integrated solutions 
for customers designed to lower their overall supply chain costs, which can include direct-to-customer deliveries, 
multi-shipper order consolidation for their inbound supplies, and express and time-definite deliveries.  
Approximately half of the Jevic trailers are heated and service customers with freezable products.  Jevic is a partner 
with the American Chemical Council Responsible Care Program and derives over 50 percent of its revenue from 
chemical and chemical-related sectors. 

Industry 

According to an American Trucking Associations report, in 2003 the trucking industry accounted for 87 percent of 
total domestic freight revenue, or $610 billion, and 69 percent of domestic freight volume.  Trucks provide 
transportation services to virtually every industry operating in the United States and generally offer higher levels of 
reliability, shipment integrity and speed than other surface transportation options. 

The trucking industry consists of three segments, including private fleets and two “for-hire” carrier groups.  The 
private carrier segment consists of fleets owned and operated by shippers who move their own goods.  The two “for-
hire” groups, TL and LTL, are based on the typical shipment sizes handled by transportation service companies.  TL 
refers to providers generally transporting shipments greater than 10,000 pounds and LTL refers to providers 
generally transporting shipments less than 10,000 pounds. 

SCST is primarily an LTL carrier.  The LTL segment accounted for approximately $62 billion of revenue in 2003, 
or 10 percent of total trucking revenue, according to the American Trucking Associations. 

LTL transportation providers consolidate numerous orders, generally ranging from 100 to 10,000 pounds, from 
businesses in different locations.  Orders are consolidated at individual locations within a certain radius from service 
facilities and then transported from there to the ultimate destination.  As a result, LTL carriers require expansive 
networks of pickup and delivery operations around local service facilities and shipments are moved between origin 
and destination often through an intermediate distribution or “breakbulk” facility.  Depending on the distance 
shipped, the LTL segment historically was classified into three subgroups: 

• Regional — Average distance is typically less than 500 miles with a focus on one- and two-day markets.  
Regional transportation companies can move shipments directly to their respective destination centers, 
which increase service reliability and avoid costs associated with intermediate handling. 

• Interregional — Average distance is usually between 500 and 1,000 miles with a focus on serving two- and 
three-day markets.   

• National — Average distance is typically in excess of 1,000 miles with focus on service in two- to five-day 
markets.  National providers rely on intermediate shipment handling through hub and spoke networks, 
which require numerous satellite service facilities, multiple distribution facilities, and a relay network.  To 
gain service and cost advantages, they occasionally ship directly between service facilities, reducing 
intermediate handling. 

Over the last several years there has been a blurring of the above subgroups as individual companies are increasingly 
attempting to serve multiple subgroups, for example a number of companies are focusing on serving regional 
overnight lanes, as well as serving two- and three-day markets, between adjacent regions.   

Saia operates as a traditional LTL carrier with a primary focus on regional and interregional LTL lanes.  Although 
Jevic focuses on the LTL sector, its non-traditional operating model allows it to provide high quality service across 
sector boundaries of weight (LTL and TL), distance (regional, interregional and national) and speed (time-definite). 

The TL segment is the largest portion of the “for-hire” truck transportation market.  In 2003 the TL segment 
generated approximately $270 billion in revenue or 44 percent of total trucking revenue, according to the American 
Trucking Associations.  TL carriers primarily transport large shipments from origin to destination with no 
intermediate handling.  Although a full truckload can weigh over 40,000 pounds, it is common for carriers to haul 
two or three shipments exceeding 10,000 pounds at one time, making multiple delivery stops. 
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Because TL carriers do not require an expansive network to provide point-to-point service, the overall cost structure 
of TL participants is typically low relative to LTL service providers. The segment is comprised of several major 
carriers and numerous small entrepreneurial players.  At the most basic level, a TL company can be started with 
capital for rolling stock (a tractor and a trailer), insurance, a driver and little else.  As size becomes a factor, capital 
is needed for technology infrastructure and some limited facilities.  While Saia does not compete extensively in the 
TL sector, Jevic derives approximately one-third of its revenues from TL services. 

Capital requirements are significantly different in the traditional LTL segment versus the TL segment.  In the LTL 
sector, substantial amounts of capital are required for a network of service facilities, shipment handling equipment 
and revenue equipment (both for city pick-up, delivery and linehaul).  In addition, investment in effective 
technology has become increasingly important in the LTL segment, largely due to the number of transactions and 
number of customers served on a daily basis.  Saia, for example, picks up approximately 21,000 shipments per day, 
each of which has a shipper and consignee, and occasionally a third party, all of who need access to information in a 
timely manner.  More importantly, technology plays a key role in improving customer service, operations efficiency, 
safety and yield management.  Due to the significant infrastructure spending required, the cost structure is relatively 
prohibitive to new startup or small entrepreneurial operations.  As a result, the LTL segment is more concentrated 
than the TL segment, with a few large national carriers and several large regional carriers. 

Business Strategy 

Saia has grown over the last decade through a combination of organic growth and the integration in 2001 with 
WestEx and Action Express, regional LTL companies which had been acquired by Yellow in 1994 and 1998, 
respectively.  WestEx operated in California and the Southwest, and Action Express operated in the Pacific 
Northwest and Rocky Mountain states.  In 2004 Saia acquired and integrated Clark Bros., a Midwestern less-than-
truckload carrier serving eleven states.  Saia has successfully integrated these companies, which had contiguous 
regional coverage with minimal overlap.  Jevic, acquired by Yellow in 1999, was seen as an opportunity to acquire a 
complementary business that would offer additional growth potential to its more traditional LTL network service.   

Key elements of our business strategy include: 

Continue to focus on operating safely. 

Our most valuable resource is our employees.  It is a corporate priority to continually emphasize the importance of 
safe operations and to reduce both the frequency and severity of injuries and accidents.  This emphasis is not only 
appropriate to protect our employees and our communities, but with the continued escalation of commercial 
insurance and health care costs, is important to maintain and improve shareholder returns. 

Continue focus on delivering best-in-class service. 

The foundation of our growth and profitability strategy is consistently delivering high-quality service.  Commitment 
to service quality is valued by customers and allows us to gain fair compensation for our services and positions us to 
improve market share. 

Prepare the organization for future growth. 

Our primary focus within organizational development is maintaining sound relationships with our current 
employees.  We invest in thorough internal communications programs and are committed to providing competitive 
wages and benefits to our employees.   

We believe it is also important to invest in the development of human resources, technology capabilities and 
strategic real estate that positions our Company for future growth and will allow the Company to meet the increasing 
demands of the marketplace. 

Increase density in existing geographies. 

We gain operating leverage by growing volume and density within existing geography.  We estimate the potential 
incremental profitability on growth in current markets can be 15 percent or even higher.  This improves margins, 
asset turnover and return on capital.   

We actively monitor opportunities to add service facilities where we have sufficient density and we see potential for 
future volume growth.  Both Saia and Jevic have added modest facility capacity, including Jevic’s expansion to Los 
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Angeles and capacity expansion in Houston in 2002 and Saia’s 2003 opening of three new service facilities in 
Colorado and California. 

Continue focus on improving operating efficiencies. 

Both Saia and Jevic have aggressive management initiatives and ongoing establishment of comprehensive operating 
best practices focused on continuing to improve operating efficiency.  These initiatives help offset a variety of 
structural cost increases like casualty insurance, wage rates and health care benefits.  We believe our companies 
continue to be well positioned to manage costs and asset utilization and we believe we will continue to see new 
opportunities for cost savings. 

Manage yields and business mix. 

This strategy involves managing both the pricing process and the mix of customers, in ways that allow our networks 
to operate more profitably.  While regional pricing remains highly competitive, it has improved in 2004 relative to 
trends in the previous two years and should continue to benefit if the economy remains strong as management 
expects.   

Expand geographic footprint. 

When the time is right, we plan to pursue additional geographic expansion because we believe it promotes earnings 
growth and improves our customer value proposition.  On February 16, 2004, we acquired Clark Bros., a 
Midwestern less-than-truckload carrier serving eleven states.  The operations of Clark Bros. were integrated into 
Saia in May 2004 bringing the benefits of Saia transportation service to major Midwestern markets including 
Chicago, Minneapolis, St. Louis and Kansas City.  This acquisition and the Company’s 2004 capital expenditures 
were substantially funded from cash and cash flows from operations.  Subsequent to year-end, we increased our 
borrowing availability under our revolving credit facility.  This increased capacity allows us to be more 
opportunistic with growth initiatives. 

Management may consider acquisitions from time to time to help expand geographic reach while gaining built-in 
customer volume.  Management believes integration of acquisitions is a core competency and it has developed a 
repeatable blueprint from its successful experience in 2001 in integrating WestEx and Action Express into Saia and 
in 2004 in integrating Clark Bros into Saia. 

Seasonality 

Our revenues are subject to seasonal variations.  Customers tend to reduce shipments after the winter holiday season, 
and operating expenses tend to be higher as a percent of revenue in the winter months primarily due to lower 
capacity utilization and weather effects.  Generally, the first quarter is the weakest while the third quarter is the 
strongest. 

Labor 

Most regional LTL companies, including Saia and Jevic, and virtually all TL companies are not subject to collective 
bargaining agreements.  By contrast, the vast majority of employees in the national LTL sector are subject to 
collective bargaining agreements with the International Brotherhood of Teamsters.   

In recent years, due to competition for quality employees, the compensation divide between union and non-union 
carriers has closed dramatically.  However, there are still significant differences in benefit costs and work rule 
flexibility.  Benefit costs for union carriers remain significantly above those paid by non-union carriers.  In addition, 
non-union carriers have more work rule flexibility with respect to work schedules, routes and other similar items.  
Work rule flexibility is a major issue in the regional LTL sector, as flexibility is required to meet the service levels 
required by customers. 

Our employees are not represented by a collective bargaining unit allowing for better communications and employee 
relations, stronger future growth prospects, as well as improved efficiencies and customer service capabilities.   

Competition 

Shippers have an increasingly wide range of choices.  We believe that service quality, variety of services offered, 
geographic coverage, responsiveness and flexibility are the important competitive differentiators.  
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SCST focuses primarily on regional and interregional business and operates in a highly competitive environment 
against a wide range of transportation service providers.  These competitors include a small number of large, 
national transportation service providers in the national and two-day markets and a large number of shorter-haul or 
regional transportation companies in the two-day and overnight markets.  Since 2000, Jevic has faced additional 
competition in primarily Northeast markets from a recently established company that employs numerous former 
Jevic employees and that actively solicits business from Jevic customers.  SCST also competes in and against 
several modes of transportation, including LTL, truckload and private fleets.  The larger the service area, the greater 
the barriers to entry into the LTL trucking segment due to the need for broader geographic coverage and additional 
equipment and facility requirements associated with this coverage.  The level of technology applications required 
and the ability to generate shipment densities that provide adequate labor and equipment utilization also make 
larger-scale entry into the market difficult. 

Regulation 

The trucking industry has been substantially deregulated and rates and services are now largely free of regulatory 
controls, although states retain the right to require compliance with safety and insurance requirements.  The trucking 
industry remains subject to regulatory and legislative changes that can have a material adverse effect on our 
operations.   

Key areas of regulatory activity include: 

Department of Homeland Security. 

The trucking industry is working closely with government agencies to define and implement improved security 
processes.  The Transportation Security Administration is currently focusing on trailer security, driver identification 
and border-crossing procedures.  These and other measures such as recently revised rules for transportation of 
hazardous materials could increase the cost of operations and reduce the number of qualified drivers.   

Department of Transportation. 

Within the Department of Transportation, the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration (the “FMCSA”) issued 
new rules on motor carrier driver hours of service, which limit the maximum number of hours, a driver may be on 
duty between mandatory off-duty hours.  These were implemented in January 2004 and were subsequently vacated 
by the courts in July 2004.  The vacated rules, however, have become the interim rules, pending further study by the 
FMCSA.  The Company’s operations were adjusted to comply with these new (but interim) rules, and were not 
materially affected.  Revisions to these interim rules, including any future requirement for on board recorders, could 
impact our operations, further tighten the market for qualified drivers, and put additional upward pressure on driver 
wages.   

Environmental Protection Agency. 

A significant reduction in emissions is scheduled for 2006 and 2007, which includes both reductions in sulfur 
content of diesel fuel and further reductions in engine emissions.  These regulations have the potential to increase 
the cost of replacing and maintaining trucks, increase fuel costs, reduce availability of fuel and reduce productivity. 

Our motor carrier operations are also subject to environmental laws and regulations, including laws and regulations 
dealing with underground fuel storage tanks, the transportation of hazardous materials and other environmental 
matters.  We maintain bulk fuel storage and fuel islands at several of our facilities.  Our operations involve the risks 
of fuel spillage or seepage, environmental damage and hazardous waste disposal, among others.  We have 
established programs designed to monitor and control environmental risks and to comply with all applicable 
environmental regulations.  As part of our safety and risk management program, we periodically perform internal 
environmental reviews to maintain environmental compliance and avoid environmental risk.  We believe that we are 
currently in substantial compliance with applicable environmental laws and regulations and that the cost of 
compliance has not materially affected results of operations. 

Food and Drug Administration. 

As transportation providers of foodstuffs, our companies have had to comply with new rules issued by the Food and 
Drug Administration to provide security of food and foodstuffs throughout the supply chain.  These rules have had 
no material impact on our operations. 
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Trademarks and Patents 

We have registered several service marks and trademarks in the United States Patent and Trademark office, 
including Saia Guaranteed Select®, Saia Customer Service Indicators®, Jevic’s 100% GuaranteedTM and Jevic’s 
Breakbulk-Free®.  We believe that these service marks and trademarks are important components of our marketing 
strategy. 

Executive Officers of the Registrant 

Information regarding executive officers of SCST is as follows (included herein pursuant to Instruction 3 to Item 
401(b) of Regulation S-K and General Instruction G (3) of Form 10-K): 

Name  Age  Positions Held 
 
Herbert A. 
Trucksess, III 

  
55 

  
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, SCS Transportation, Inc.  
Mr. Trucksess was named President and Chief Executive Officer of the 
Yellow Regional Transportation Group (now SCS Transportation, Inc.) in 
February 2000.  Mr. Trucksess had been Senior Vice President and Chief 
Financial Officer of Yellow Corporation since June 1994.   

Richard D. 
O’Dell 

 43  President and Chief Executive Officer, Saia Motor Freight Line, Inc. since 
November 1999.   

Paul J. Karvois  50  President and Chief Executive Officer, Jevic Transportation, Inc. since 
January 2000, having served as President since March 1997.   

James J. 
Bellinghausen 

 43  Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of SCS Transportation, Inc. 
(formerly Yellow Regional Transportation Group) since April 2000.  
Mr. Bellinghausen joined Yellow Corporation in August 1998 as Director 
of Corporate Accounting.   

John P. Burton  49  Vice President, Marketing and External Affairs, SCS Transportation, Inc. 
since January 2002 having previously served as Vice President of the 
Yellow Regional Transportation Group from November 2000 to 
December 2001.  Mr. Burton was at Yellow Freight as Vice President of 
Channel Marketing beginning in July 1999. 

David J. Letke  59  Vice President, Operations and Planning, SCS Transportation, Inc. since 
October 2002.  Mr. Letke served as a consultant to the Yellow Regional 
Transportation Group from February 2000 through September 2002.  From 
July 1998 until January 2000, Mr. Letke served as President and CEO of 
Preston Trucking Company. 

Stephanie R. 
Maschmeier 

 32  Controller, SCS Transportation, Inc. since December 2004.  Ms. 
Maschmeier joined SCS Transportation in July 2002 as corporate financial 
reporting manager.  Prior to joining SCS Transportation, Inc., Ms. 
Maschmeier had eight years of experience in public accounting with Ernst 
& Young LLP. 

 

Officers are elected by, and serve at the discretion of, the Board of Directors.  There are no family relationships 
between any executive officer and any other executive officer or director of SCST or of any of its subsidiaries. 

Additional Information 

SCST has an Internet website that is located at www.scstransportation.com.  SCST makes available free of charge 
through its Internet website all filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission as soon as reasonably 
practicable after making such filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.   

http://www.scstransportation.com/
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Item 2. Properties 

SCST is the corporate holding company for Saia and Jevic and has nine employees.  SCST leases its corporate office 
space in Kansas City, Missouri. 

Saia is headquartered in Duluth, Georgia.  At December 31, 2004 Saia owned 42 service facilities and the Houma, 
Louisiana general office and leased 85 service facilities, the Duluth, Georgia corporate office and the Boise, Idaho 
general office. Although Saia owns only 33 percent of its service facility locations, these locations account for 51 
percent of its door capacity.  This follows the Saia strategy of owning strategically located facilities that are integral 
to its operations and leasing service facilities in smaller markets to allow for more flexibility.  As of December 31, 
2004, Saia owned all of its 2,653 tractors and 8,473 trailers. 

Top 20 Saia Service Facilities by Number of Doors at December 31, 2004 

Location Own/Lease Doors 

Atlanta, GA Own 224 
Dallas, TX Own 174 
Memphis, TN Own 124 
Houston, TX Own 108 
Charlotte, NC Own 107 
New Orleans, LA Own 86 
Los Angeles, CA Lease 80 
Fontana, CA Own 75 
St. Louis, MO Lease 73 
Chicago, IL Lease 68 
Miami, FL Own 68 
Jacksonville, FL Own 64 
Nashville, TN Lease 60 
Phoenix, AZ Own 59 
Minneapolis, MN Lease 56 
Oklahoma City, OK Own 55 
Denver, CO Lease 54 
Kansas City, MO Own 52 
Tyler, TX Lease 52 
Birmingham, AL Own 51 
Tampa, FL Own 51 
 
Jevic is headquartered in Delanco, New Jersey and originates shipments primarily east of the Mississippi River, but 
provides services to customers throughout the continental United States and portions of Canada through ten 
origination facilities.  As of December 31, 2004, Jevic owned all of its 1,273 tractors and 2,644 trailers. 

Jevic Facilities at December 31, 2004 
 

  

Location Own/Lease Doors 

Delanco, NJ (including corporate office) Own 108 
Chicago, IL Own 100 
Charlotte, NC Lease 100 
Cleveland, OH Lease 83 
Oxford, MA Own 80 
Atlanta, GA Lease 74 
Cincinnati, OH Lease 72 
Newark, NJ Lease 58 
Houston, TX Lease 50 
Los Angeles, CA Lease 32 
Willingboro, NJ (maintenance facility) Lease N/A 
 



 

10 

Item 3. Legal Proceedings 

Saia and Jevic are both subject to ordinary-course litigation arising out of personal injury, property damage, freight 
and employment claims.  None of these legal actions separately or in the aggregate are viewed by management to be 
excessive compared to historical trends, nor are they expected to have a material adverse effect on our financial 
condition, results of operations or cash flows. 

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders 

There were no matters submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of the year ended December 
31, 2004. 
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PART II. 
 
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters 

Stock Price Information  
  
SCST’s common stock is listed on the NASDAQ National Market (NASDAQ) under the symbol “SCST.” The 
following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low sale prices per share for the common stock as 
reported on NASDAQ.    
 

Low High
Year Ended December 31, 2004

First Quarter $  16.73 $23.20
Second Quarter $  20.90 $27.64
Third Quarter $  16.80 $26.63
Fourth Quarter $  17.85 $23.80

Year Ended December 31, 2003
First Quarter $  9.76 $12.64
Second Quarter $10.15 $13.40
Third Quarter $12.55 $17.30
Fourth Quarter $13.49 $18.79

 
  
Stockholders  
  
As of January 31, 2005, there were 1,986 holders of record of our common stock.  
   
Dividends  
  
We do not pay a dividend on our common stock.  Any payment of dividends in the future is dependent upon our 
financial condition, capital requirements, earnings, cash flow and other factors. 

Dividends are prohibited under our current debt agreements, which have been previously filed with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission and are incorporated by reference herein.  However, there are no material restrictions on 
the ability of our subsidiaries to transfer funds to us in the form of cash dividends, loans or advances.  See Note 4 of 
the accompanying audited consolidated financial statements. 
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Equity Compensation Plan Information 

Plan Category

Number of securities 
to be issued upon 

exercise of 
outstanding options, 
warrants and rights

Weighted-average 
exercise price of 

outstanding options, 
warrants and rights

Number of securities 
remaining available for 
future issuances under 

equity compensation plans 
(excluding securities 

reflected in column (a))
(a) (b) (c)

Equity compensation plans approved 
by security holders 810,635   $  5.41   205,092   (1)

Equity compensation plans not
approved by security holders —    —    —    

Total 810,635   $  5.41   205,092   

(1)  See Note 9 to the audited consolidated financial statements for a description of the equity compensation plan for 
securities remaining available for future issuance.  No more than 68,500 of the amount remaining available may be 
issued in the form of restricted stock under the SCS Transporation, Inc. 2003 Omnibus Incentive Plan.
 

Changes in Securities, Use of Proceeds and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities —  

(a) Total 
Number of 
Shares (or 

Units) 
Purchased

(b) Average 
Price Paid per 

Share (or 
Unit)

(c) Total Number 
of Shares (or 

Units) Purchased 
as Part of Publicly 
Announced Plans 

or Programs

(d) Maximum 
Number (or 

Approximate Dollar 
Value) of Shares (or 
Units) that May Yet 
be Purchased under 

the Plans or 
Programs

October 31, 2004 —    (2) —    (2) —    (1) —    (1)
November 1, 2004 through

November 30, 2004 —    (3) —    (3) —    (1) —    (1)
December 1, 2004 through

December 31, 2004 —    (4) —    (4) —    (1) —    (1)
Total —    —    —    

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4) The SCST Executive Capital Accumulation Plan sold no shares of SCST stock on the open market during the period 
of December 1, 2004 through December 31, 2004.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

No shares were purchased during the fourth quarter of 2004.  Any shares purchased would be purchased on the open 
market by the SCST Executive Capital Accumulation Plan.  For more information on the SCST Executive Capital 
Accumulation Plan see the Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No. 333-103661) filed on March 7, 2003.

The SCST Executive Capital Accumulation Plan sold no shares of SCST stock on the open market during the period 
of October 1, 2004 through October 31, 2004.

The SCST Executive Capital Accumulation Plan sold no shares of SCST stock on the open market during the period 
of November 1, 2004 through November 30, 2004.

Period
October 1, 2004 through 
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data 

The following table shows summary historical financial data of SCST, which includes its wholly owned subsidiaries 
Saia and Jevic, and has been derived from, and should be read together with, the consolidated financial statements 
and accompanying notes and in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations 
and Financial Condition”.  The summary financial information may not be indicative of the future performance of 
SCST.   

2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

Statement of operations:
Operating revenue $982,270   $827,359   $775,436   $771,582   $789,009   
Operating income (1) 40,834   32,882   27,230   15,743   21,661   
Income before cumulative effect

of accounting change 19,259   14,933   12,058   771   1,698   
Net income (loss) (2) 19,259   14,933   (63,117)  771   1,698   
Diluted earnings per share before

cumulative effect of accounting
change (3) 1.26   0.99   0.82   0.05   0.12   

Diluted earnings (loss) per share (2)(3) 1.26   0.99   (4.30)  0.05   0.12   

Other financial data:
Net cash provided by operating

activities 54,894   58,270   50,439   68,718   69,521   
Net cash used in investing

activities (4) (79,992)  (49,830)  (24,792)  (19,613)  (59,033)  
Depreciation and amortization 47,968   44,039   44,920   49,166   48,296   

Balance sheet data:
Cash and cash equivalents 7,499   30,870   21,872   1,480   4,922   
Net property and equipment 320,612   292,393   287,158   306,041   334,427   
Total assets 508,738   464,066   444,343   511,946   551,667   
Total debt 122,810   116,510   116,410   128,992   206,884   
Total shareholders’ equity 212,542   189,582   174,277   229,649   203,514   

Measurements:
Operating ratio (5) 95.8% 96.0% 96.5% 98.0% 97.3%

(In thousands except per share data and percentages)

Year ended December 31,

 
______________________ 
 

(1) Operating expenses in 2001 and 2000 include integration charges of $6.7 million and $2.7 million, 
respectively, relating to the integration of WestEx and Action Express into Saia.  Operating expenses in 2004 
include integration charges of $2.1 million relating to the integration of Clark Bros. into Saia. 

(2) Net loss for the year ended December 31, 2002 includes a non-cash charge of $75.2 million ($5.12 per diluted 
share) recorded as a cumulative effect of change in accounting principle to reflect the impairment of goodwill 
at Jevic under new accounting standards adopted January 1, 2002. 

(3) Earnings per share amounts for periods presented prior to the Spin-off are based on 14,565,478 shares of 
common stock outstanding at the September 30, 2002 Spin-off date.   

(4) Capital expenditures in 2004 include $23.5 million for the acquisition of Clark Bros.   

(5) The operating ratio is the calculation of operating expenses divided by operating revenue.   
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition 

Executive Overview 

The Company’s business is highly correlated to the industrial economy.  The Company is focused on increasing 
volume within existing geographies while managing both the mix and yield of business to achieve increased 
profitability.  The Company’s business is both labor intensive and capital intensive.  The Company looks for 
opportunities to leverage technology, improve safety and achieve better asset utilization (primarily tractors and 
trailers) to improve cost and productivity.  The Company grew year over year revenue by 19 percent in 2004 and a 
substantial portion of the increase is attributable to the Company’s February 2004 acquisition of Clark Bros. 
Transfer, Inc. (Clark Bros.).  On a pro forma basis including Clark Bros. in the prior year comparison, year over year 
revenue increased 10.8 percent.  This revenue growth was primarily attributable to the Company’s improvement in 
yield (revenue per hundred weight) and growth in less-than-truckload (LTL) tonnage which management believes 
reflects market share gains due to various sales initiatives.  While the LTL pricing environment remained 
competitive, the Company had meaningful improvement during the second half of 2004 in LTL revenue per 
hundredweight, one measure of yield.   

Results in 2004 include $2.1 million in pre-tax integration costs associated with the acquisition of Clark Bros.; $4.4 
million pre-tax increase in the actuarially estimated liability for prior-years workers’ compensation claims at Jevic 
and $3.1 million of pre-tax gains on the sale of property and equipment.  Despite the net cost of these items as well 
as other structural cost increases, incremental margins from increased tonnage volume, yield improvement along 
with cost and productivity gains realized in 2004, resulted in a 24 percent increase in operating income.  The 
Company’s operating ratio (operating expenses divided by operating revenue) improved year over year by 20 basis 
points to 95.8 percent in 2004.   

The Company generated cash flows from operations of $54.9 million in 2004.  The Company funded substantially 
all of its Clark Bros. acquisition and $56.4 million in net property and equipment additions from cash flow from 
operations and existing cash balances.  The Company’s outstanding indebtedness increased  $6.2 million as a result 
of the Clark Bros. acquisition.  The Company improved its debt to total capital ratio to 36.6 percent at December 31, 
2004 and had $34 million of availability under its revolving credit facility at December 31, 2004.  The Company 
also improved its financial capacity to pursue opportunistic growth strategies by amending its credit facility on 
January 31, 2005, increasing its revolving credit facility by $35 million to $110 million and extending its maturity 
until 2008.   

General  

The following management’s discussion and analysis describes the principal factors affecting the results of 
operations, liquidity and capital resources, as well as the critical accounting policies, of SCS Transportation, Inc. 
(also referred to as “SCST”). This discussion should be read in conjunction with the accompanying audited 
consolidated financial statements, which include additional information about our significant accounting policies, 
practices and the transactions that underlie our financial results.  

SCST is a leading transportation company providing regional and interregional LTL and selected national LTL, 
truckload (TL) and time-definite service solutions to more than 87,000 customers across the United States.  Our 
operating subsidiaries are Saia Motor Freight Line, Inc. (Saia), based in Duluth, Georgia, and Jevic Transportation, 
Inc. (Jevic), based in Delanco, New Jersey.  On September 30, 2002, Yellow Corporation (Yellow) completed a tax-
free distribution to its shareholders of 100 percent of the outstanding common stock of SCST (the Spin-off). 

Our business is highly correlated to the industrial economy and is impacted by a number of other external factors 
including the price and availability of fuel, equipment, real estate and drivers, weather and government regulation.  
The key factors that affect our operating results are the volumes of shipments transported through our networks, as 
measured by our average daily shipments and tonnage; the prices we obtain for our services, as measured by revenue 
per hundredweight (yield) and revenue per shipment; our ability to manage our cost structure for capital 
expenditures and operating expenses such as salaries, wages and benefits, purchased transportation, claims and 
insurance expense, fuel and maintenance; and our ability to match operating costs to shifting volume levels.  
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Results of Operations 

SCS Transportation, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Selected Results of Operations and Operating Statistics
For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

(in thousands, except ratios and revenue per hundredweight)

2004 2003 2002 '04 v. '03 '03 v. '02
Operating Revenue $ 982,270   $ 827,359   $ 775,436   18.7% 6.7%
Operating Expenses:

Salaries, wages and employees’ benefits 549,511   465,714   439,590   18.0   5.9   
Purchased transportation 92,099   81,551   77,885   12.9   4.7   
Depreciation and amortization 47,968   44,039   44,920   8.9   (2.0)  
Other operating expenses 251,858   203,173   185,811   24.0   9.3   

Operating Income 40,834   32,882   27,230   24.2   20.8   
Nonoperating Expenses 9,423   8,970   6,271   5.1   43.0   
Operating Ratio 95.8% 96.0% 96.5% (0.2)  (0.5)  
Working Capital 54,066   65,638   54,928   (17.6)  19.5   
Cash Flow from Operations 54,894   58,270   50,439   (5.8)  15.5   
Net Capital Expenditures 79,992   49,830   24,792   60.5   101.0   
Operating Statistics:
LTL Tonnage

Saia 2,909   2,422   2,319   20.1   4.4   
Jevic 1,066   1,053   995   0.9   5.8   

Total Tonnage
Saia 3,526   2,977   2,861   18.4   4.0   
Jevic 2,283   2,209   2,235   3.0   (1.2)  

LTL Shipments
Saia 5,290   4,504   4,356   17.5   3.4   
Jevic 886   877   833   0.7   5.3   

Total Shipments
Saia 5,372   4,575   4,423   17.4   3.4   
Jevic 1,030   1,012   971   1.3   4.3   

LTL Revenue Per Hundredweight
Excluding Fuel Surcharge
Saia 9.64   9.54   9.52   1.1   0.2   
Jevic 9.59   9.19   9.09   4.4   1.0   

Total Revenue Per Hundredweight
Excluding Fuel Surcharge
Saia 8.63   8.44   8.40   2.3   0.5   
Jevic 6.67   6.44   6.15   3.5   4.8   

Percent Variance

 

Year ended December 31, 2004 vs. year ended December 31, 2003 

Revenue and volume  

Consolidated revenue increased 18.7 percent to $982.3 million as a result of improved pricing and increased 
volumes as both shipments and LTL tonnage were up over the prior year.  Volume gains were attributable to 
improved economic conditions, company specific initiatives and the February 16, 2004 acquisition of Clark Bros., 
which was subsequently merged into Saia on May 1, 2004.  On a pro forma basis, including Clark Bros. revenue in 
the prior-year comparison, consolidated revenues were up 10.8 percent.  Fuel surcharge revenue, which was 5.9 
percent of total revenue in 2004, was up significantly from 2003 when fuel surcharge revenue was 3.6 percent of 
total revenue and is intended to reduce the Company’s exposure to rising diesel prices. 
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Saia had operating revenue of $645.4 million in 2004, an increase of 24.0 percent over 2003 operating revenue of 
$520.7 million.  Saia’s operating revenue excluding fuel surcharge was $607.8 million in 2004, up 21.0 percent from 
$502.3 million in 2003.  On a pro forma basis, including Clark Bros. revenue in the prior-year comparison, Saia 
revenue was up 11.4 percent over 2003.  Saia LTL revenue per hundredweight excluding fuel surcharge (a measure 
of yield) increased 1.1 percent to $9.64 per hundredweight for 2004.  Saia experienced stronger price increases in 
the second half of 2004.   Saia LTL tonnage was up 20.1 percent to 2.9 million tons and LTL shipments were up 
17.5 percent to 5.3 million shipments.  On a pro forma basis including Clark Bros. in the prior year comparisons, 
LTL tonnage was up 6.7 percent and LTL shipments were up 3.0 percent.  Yield improvement during the second 
half of 2004 is attributable to a better pricing environment that allowed Saia to achieve better contract renewal rates 
with customers than in the past two years.  However, pricing remains competitive in regional markets.  Management 
believes that Saia continues to grow volume by providing high quality service for its customers and from sales 
initiatives in specific market segments.  Approximately 75 percent of Saia’s revenue is subject to individual 
customer price adjustment negotiations that occur intermittently throughout the year.  The remaining 25 percent of 
revenue is subject to the annual general rate increase.  On June 1, 2004, Saia implemented a 6.2 percent general rate 
increase for this smaller group of customers.  Competitive factors, customer turnover and mix changes impact the 
extent to which customer rate increases are retained over time. 

Jevic had operating revenue of $336.9 million in 2004, a 9.8 percent increase over $306.7 million in 2003.  Jevic’s 
operating revenue excluding fuel surcharge was $316.7 million in 2004, up 7.2 percent from $295.5 million in 2003.  
Jevic total revenue per hundredweight excluding fuel surcharge increased 3.5 percent to $6.67 per hundredweight, 
tonnage was up 3.0 percent to 2.3 million tons and shipments were up 1.3 percent to 1.0 million shipments.  Jevic’s 
revenue increase is due to increased truckload volume, improved yields and increased brokerage revenue.  The 
increase in yield is primarily a result of an improved pricing environment for both LTL and truckload business.  
Approximately 60 percent of Jevic’s revenue is subject to individual customer price adjustment negotiations that 
occur intermittently throughout the year. The remaining 40 percent of revenue is subject to the annual general rate 
increase.  On June 21, 2004, Jevic implemented a 6.0 percent general rate increase on LTL business and a 5.0 
percent increase on truckload business for this smaller group of customers.  Competitive factors, customer turnover 
and mix changes impact the extent to which customer rate increases are retained over time. 

Operating expenses and margin 

The 24.2 percent increase in consolidated operating income reflects higher margin contribution on year over year 
volume increases; yield improvement and cost and productivity improvements partially offset by structural cost 
increases.  Operating income in 2004 also includes $2.1 million in integration charges at Saia related to the Clark 
Bros. acquisition and $4.4 million in charges at Jevic to reflect actuarially estimated increases in the workers’ 
compensation liability related to claims in prior years.  Operating income in 2004 benefited from net operating gains 
of $2.5 million from the sale of revenue equipment and gains of $0.6 million from the sale of one real estate facility.  
The 2004 operating ratio (operating expenses divided by operating revenue) was 95.8 compared to 96.0 in 2003.  
Excluding the integration charges, workers’ compensation charges and property gains described above, the 
consolidated operating ratio in 2004 was 95.5.  In February 2004 Saia acquired Clark Bros., a Midwestern less than 
truckload operation serving 11 states.  During the first half of the year, Saia recorded $2.1 million in charges related 
to the May 2004 integration of this company into Saia.  During the third quarter, Saia incurred additional costs to 
enhance its service primarily in new geography resulting from the first quarter acquisition of Clark Bros.  Also in the 
third quarter and in the fourth quarter Jevic recorded $6.0 million in higher than anticipated workers’ compensation 
expense based on the results of an actuarial valuation of their workers’ compensation liability completed in the 
fourth quarter 2004.  Approximately $4.4 million related to increases in the liability for claims from prior years and 
the remaining $1.6 million represented an increase in estimated 2004 claims expense.  Both Saia and Jevic continued 
initiatives to improve productivity and control variable costs as monthly volumes fluctuated.  These costs and 
productivity initiatives were partially offset by structural cost increases in wage rates, purchased transportation, 
healthcare costs and other operating expenses.  Higher fuel prices (exclusive of taxes), in conjunction with volume 
changes, caused $25.1 million of the increase in operating expenses and supplies.  These fuel price increases were 
more than offset by increased revenues from the fuel surcharge program. 

Saia had operating income of $35.8 million in 2004, compared to $27.7 million in 2003.  The operating ratio at Saia 
was 94.4 in 2004 compared to 94.7 in 2003. Saia’s operating ratio was 94.1 excluding the $2.1 million integration 
charge in 2004.  Saia improved its operating income through yield improvement, increased volume due in part to the 
Clark Bros. acquisition and continued strong cost controls.  The higher volumes, improved yields and cost controls 
allowed Saia to leverage its fixed cost network and offset higher healthcare costs, higher cargo and bodily injury and 
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property damage claims costs, a general wage increase in August 2004 and other wage adjustments during the year.  
As of the fourth quarter of 2004, Saia’s wage rates were 3.4 percent higher than the fourth quarter of 2003.   

Jevic operating income was $8.9 million in 2004, versus $9.4 million in 2003.  Jevic’s 2004 results were negatively 
impacted by workers’ compensation expense, which was $7.4 million higher than in the prior year.  Based on the 
results of an actuarial valuation completed in the fourth quarter 2004, approximately $4.4 million was recorded 
related to increases in the liability for claims from prior years.  Jevic recorded operating gains of $2.1 million from 
the sale of revenue equipment and real estate in 2004 compared to a $0.3 million operating loss on such sales in 
2003.  Excluding these items, Jevic’s volume and yield improvement offset other cost increases in salaries and 
wages, healthcare and purchased transportation in 2004 and Jevic’s core operating performance was slightly 
improved over the prior year.  However, in 2004, Jevic’s service execution was not as consistent, in part due to a 
number of external factors including changes in Hours of Service regulations, which hurt both productivity and 
profitability.  The operating ratio at Jevic was 97.4 in 2004, including the higher workers’ compensation expense 
discussed above, compared to 96.9 in 2003.  Jevic implemented planned wage increases in September 2004.  As of 
the fourth quarter 2004, Jevic’s wage rates were approximately 3.3 percent higher than the fourth quarter of 2003.   

Holding company operating expenses for 2004 were $3.9 million in excess of costs allocated to the operating 
companies compared to $4.3 million in 2003.  Holding company costs in 2003 included, $1.1 million related to 
reserve increases on casualty claims incurred prior to our September 2002 Spin-off, and had been subject to a 
deductible buy-down program with our former parent.  Holding costs in 2004 reflected $1.1 million in higher 
professional fees related to the Company’s compliance with requirements under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. 

Other 

Substantially all SCST nonoperating expenses represent interest expense.  The 3.0 percent increase in interest cost is 
a result of the $6.2 million seller note issued in connection with the Company’s February 2004 acquisition of Clark 
Bros. and a $4.8 million increase in letters of credit.  The Company’s capital structure consists predominantly of 
longer-term, fixed rate instruments.  The consolidated effective tax rate was 38.7 percent in 2004 compared to 37.6 
percent in 2003.  The 2004 effective tax rate included approximately $0.6 million in tax benefit related to the 
favorable settlement of various tax issues.  The 2003 effective tax rate was lower due to the tax benefit for 
previously unrecognized state operating loss carryforwards of $1.0 million, due to changes in state tax laws enacted 
in 2003.  The notes to the consolidated financial statements provide an analysis of the income tax provision and the 
effective tax rate.  

Working capital/capital expenditures 

The decrease in working capital is predominantly the result of lower year over year invested cash balances resulting 
from capital expenditures which included the February 2004 Clark Bros. acquisition and higher accounts payable 
and year end wage and benefit accruals partially offset by an increase in accounts receivable and prepaid expenses.  
The increase in accounts receivable reflects the higher revenues in December 2004 versus December 2003.  The 
2004 net capital investments include $23.5 million for the February 2004 acquisition of Clark Bros., approximately 
$8.9 million investment in real estate and $47.6 million for replacement of revenue equipment and investment in 
technology equipment and software. 

Year ended December 31, 2003 vs. year ended December 31, 2002 

Revenue and volume  

The 6.7 percent increase in consolidated revenue to $827.4 million was the result of volume increases in both 
shipments and LTL tonnage while year over year yield was relatively flat, as pricing remains very competitive.  Fuel 
surcharge revenue, which was 3.6 percent of total revenue in 2003, is intended to reduce the Company’s exposure to 
rising diesel prices and was higher by approximately $14.7 million in 2003. 

Saia had operating revenue of $520.7 million in 2003, an increase of 6.3 percent over 2002 operating revenue of 
$489.8 million.  Saia’s operating revenue excluding fuel surcharge was $502.3 million in 2003, up 4.6 percent from 
$480.3 million in 2002.  Saia LTL revenue per hundredweight excluding fuel surcharge (a measure of yield) 
increased 0.2 percent to $9.54 per hundredweight for 2003, while LTL tonnage was up 4.4 percent to 2.4 million 
tons and LTL shipments were up 3.4 percent to 4.5 million shipments.  The flat yield is a combination of freight mix 
and competitive pricing pressure in regional markets.  Management believes that Saia continues to grow volume by 
providing high quality service for its customers and from sales initiatives in specific market segments.  
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Approximately 70 percent of Saia’s revenue is subject to individual customer price adjustment negotiations that 
occur intermittently throughout the year.  The remaining 30 percent of revenue is subject to the annual general rate 
increase.  On June 9, 2003, Saia implemented a 6.2 percent general rate increase for this smaller group of customers.  
Competitive factors, customer turnover and mix changes impact the extent to which customer rate increases are 
retained over time. 

Jevic had operating revenue of $306.7 million in 2003, a 7.4 percent increase over $285.6 million in 2002.  Jevic’s 
operating revenue excluding fuel surcharge was $295.5 million in 2003, up 5.5 percent from $280.2 million in 2002.  
Jevic revenue per hundredweight excluding fuel surcharge increased 4.8 percent to $6.44 per hundredweight, while 
tonnage was down 1.2 percent to 2.2 million tons and shipments were up 4.3 percent to 1.0 million shipments.  
Jevic’s revenue increase is due to increased LTL volume, improved yields and increased brokerage revenue, 
partially offset by lower truckload volumes.  The increase in yield is primarily a result of a planned mix shift toward 
higher yielding LTL business.  Approximately 60 percent of Jevic’s revenue is subject to individual customer price 
adjustment negotiations that occur intermittently throughout the year. The remaining 40 percent of revenue is 
subject to the annual general rate increase.  On June 1, 2003, Jevic implemented a 5.9 percent general rate increase 
on LTL business and a 3.0 percent increase on truckload business for this smaller group of customers.  Competitive 
factors, customer turnover and mix changes impact the extent to which customer rate increases are retained over 
time. 

Operating expenses and margin 

The 20.8 percent increase in consolidated operating income reflects higher margin contribution on year over year 
volume increases and cost and productivity improvements partially offset by structural cost increases.  The 2003 
operating ratio (operating expenses divided by operating revenue) was 96.0 compared to 96.5 in 2002.  Both Saia 
and Jevic continued initiatives to improve productivity and control variable costs as monthly volumes fluctuated.  
These costs and productivity initiatives were partially offset by structural cost increases in wage rates, healthcare 
costs, casualty insurance premiums and other operating expenses.  Higher fuel prices (exclusive of taxes), in 
conjunction with volume changes, caused $10.6 million of the increase in operating expenses and supplies.  These 
fuel price increases were more than offset by increased revenues from the fuel surcharge program. 

Saia had operating income of $27.7 million in 2003, compared to $21.9 million in 2002.  The operating ratio at Saia 
was 94.7 in 2003 compared to 95.5 in 2002. Despite the relatively flat yield discussed above, Saia improved its 
operating income through continued strong cost controls and productivity initiatives that improved performance 
metrics in pickup and delivery, linehaul and dock areas of the Company.  These improvements in labor productivity, 
safety initiatives and other expense reductions offset higher healthcare costs, a general wage increase in August 
2003 and other wage adjustments during the year.  As of the end of 2003, Saia’s wage rates were 4.5 percent higher 
than the end of 2002.  Saia’s overall increase in wage expense was partially offset by a decrease in purchased 
transportation, as Saia more efficiently utilized purchased transportation in meeting its peak capacity needs.   

Jevic operating income was $9.4 million in 2003, up from $5.8 million in 2002.  Jevic’s revenue and yield 
improvement offset structural cost increases in 2003.  The operating ratio at Jevic was 96.9 in 2003 compared to 
98.0 in 2002.  Jevic reduced its frequency rate for workers’ compensation claims in 2003.  Workers’ compensation 
expense in 2002 included $2.7 million higher than anticipated costs relating to unfavorable development in the 
severity of open claims and the implementation of a more conservative, actuarial estimate for establishing workers’ 
compensation reserves.  This level of profitability was obtained despite a 1.0 percent average wage increase over 
2002.  Jevic increased its use of purchased transportation to fill peak capacity needs during 2003 versus the prior 
year, principally due to operational challenges related to a continuing shortage of drivers throughout the year.  

Holding company operating expenses for 2003 were $4.3 million in excess of costs allocated to the operating 
companies.  These holding company costs included a $0.4 million charge related to the appreciation of SCST stock 
accounted for in the Capital Accumulation Plan, a $0.9 million charge for the estimated payout of our long-term 
incentive plan related to the appreciation of SCST stock, $1.1 million related to reserve increases on older casualty 
claims and $0.2 million for a consulting project.  These older casualty claims were incurred prior to our September 
2002 Spin-off, and had been subject to a deductible buy-down program with our former parent.  The increase in 
reserves was appropriate to estimate the increased severity potential of these claims.  The holding company had $0.5 
million in operating expenses in excess of costs allocated to the operating companies in 2002, which was not 
indicative of post spin-off operations. 
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Other 

Substantially all SCST nonoperating expenses represent interest expense.  The increase in interest cost is a result of 
the Company’s post Spin-off capital structure consisting of predominantly longer-term, higher fixed rate instruments 
versus the principally shorter term floating rate structure with the former parent company.  The consolidated 
effective tax rate was 37.6 percent in 2003 compared to 42.5 percent in 2002.  The decrease in the effective tax rate 
is due to the tax benefit for previously unrecognized state operating loss carryforwards of $1.0 million, due to 
changes in state tax laws enacted in 2003, together with the reduced impact of nondeductible business expenses on 
higher income before income taxes.  The 2002 results include a charge of $75.2 million recorded in the first quarter 
of 2002 from the cumulative effect of a change in accounting for goodwill.  The notes to the consolidated financial 
statements provide an analysis of the income tax provision and the effective tax rate and additional discussion on the 
charge for the cumulative effect of a change in accounting for goodwill. 

Working capital/capital expenditures 

The change in working capital is predominantly the result of a higher invested cash balance and increases in 
accounts receivable, due to higher revenues in December 2003 versus December 2002, offset by increases in wage 
and employee benefits accruals, primarily related to increased accruals for profit sharing and vacation.  Restrictions 
on prepayment of long-term fixed rate debt resulted in a higher cash and cash equivalent balance from operations in 
2003.  The 2003 capital investments primarily represent replacement of revenue equipment and investment in 
technology equipment and software. 

Outlook  

In 2004 we achieved both revenue growth and profitability improvement, while positioning our Company for future 
growth potential.  The February 2004 acquisition of Clark Bros. expanded Saia’s geography from 21 to 30 states and 
provides opportunities for greater density within their network in both the old and new Saia territories.  Also in 
2004, both Saia and Jevic capitalized on the stronger economy and improved pricing and yield management.  Our 
business remains highly correlated to the general economy, and in particular industrial production.  For 2005, we 
anticipate improved profitability due to anticipated favorable economic conditions on continued growth in our 
existing geography and subsidiary-specific profit improvement initiatives.  These initiatives include yield 
improvement, gains in cost management, productivity and asset utilization that collectively will help offset 
anticipated structural cost increases in wages, healthcare costs and other expense categories.   

Our priorities in 2005 have not changed from 2004 and include a continued focus on providing top quality service, 
improving safety performance and investing in management and infrastructure for future growth and profitability 
improvement.  Actual results for 2005 will depend upon a number of factors, including the continued strength of the 
economy, our ability to match capacity with shifting volume levels, competitive pricing pressures, cost and 
availability of drivers and purchased transportation, insurance claims and regulatory changes.   

See "Forward-Looking Statements" for a more complete discussion of potential risks and uncertainties that could 
materially affect our future performance.  

New Accounting Pronouncements  

See Note 1 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements for further discussion of recent accounting 
pronouncements.  

Financial Condition  

SCST liquidity needs arise primarily from capital investment in new equipment, land and structures and information 
technology, as well as funding working capital requirements. 

In connection with the Spin-off, SCST issued $100 million in Senior Notes under a $125 million Master Shelf 
Agreement with Prudential Investment Management, Inc. and certain of its affiliates.  SCST also entered into a $50 
million (amended November 2003 to $75 million and in January 2005 to $110 million) Agented Revolving Credit 
Agreement (the Credit Agreement) with Bank of Oklahoma, N.A., as agent.  Proceeds from the Senior Notes and a 
portion of the Credit Agreement were used for payments due Yellow discussed below.  SCST had approximately 
$120.5 million outstanding under line-of-credit agreements with Yellow immediately prior to the Spin-off, of which 



 

20 

$113.6 million was repaid to Yellow under the terms of the Spin-off.  The remaining $6.9 million reduction in the 
line-of-credit with Yellow was a capital contribution to SCST from Yellow. 

The Company’s long-term debt at December 31, 2004 includes $100 million in Senior Notes that are unsecured with 
a fixed interest rate of 7.38 percent and an average maturity of eight years.  Payments due under the Senior Notes are 
interest only until June 30, 2006 and at that time semi-annual principal payments begin, with the final payment due 
December 2013.  Under the terms of the Senior Notes, SCST must maintain several financial covenants including a 
maximum ratio of total indebtedness to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization and rent 
(EBITDAR), a minimum interest coverage ratio and a minimum tangible net worth, among others.  At December 31, 
2004, SCST was in compliance with these covenants.  In addition, SCST has third party borrowings of 
approximately $16.6 million in subordinated notes and $6.2 million in seller notes.   

On January 31, 2005, the Credit Agreement was amended to increase availability from $75 million to $110 million 
to increase the Company’s capacity for letters of credit in support of self-insured retentions for casualty and 
workers’ compensation claims and achieve greater flexibility for potential future acquisitions.  The amended $110 
million Credit Agreement is unsecured with an interest rate based on LIBOR or prime at the Company’s option, plus 
an applicable spread, in certain instances, and matures in January 2008.  At December 31, 2004, SCST had no 
borrowings under the Credit Agreement, $41 million in letters of credit outstanding under the Credit Agreement and 
availability of $34 million.  The available portion of the Credit Agreement may be used for future capital 
expenditures, working capital and letter of credit requirements as needed.  Under the terms of the Credit Agreement, 
SCST must maintain several financial covenants including a maximum ratio of total indebtedness to EBITDAR, a 
minimum interest coverage ratio and a minimum tangible net worth, among others.  At December 31, 2004, SCST 
was in compliance with these covenants. 

At December 31, 2004 Yellow provided guarantees on behalf of SCST primarily for open workers’ compensation 
claims and casualty claims incurred prior to March 1, 2000.  Under the Master Separation and Distribution 
Agreement entered into in connection with the Spin-off, SCST pays Yellow’s actual cost of any collateral it 
provides to insurance underwriters in support of these claims through October 2005 after which time it is cost plus 
100 basis points through October 2007.  At December 31, 2004, the portion of collateral allocated by Yellow to 
SCST in support of these claims was $2.6 million. 

Projected net capital expenditures for 2005 are approximately $60 million plus up to an additional $25 million for 
several strategic real estate opportunities within Saia’s existing network. Including these capital expenditures for real 
estate in 2005, this represents an approximately $29 million increase from 2004 net capital expenditures for property 
and equipment.  Approximately $27.9 million of the 2005 capital budget was committed at December 31, 2004. Net 
capital expenditures pertain primarily to replacement of revenue equipment at both subsidiaries and additional 
investments in information technology, land and structures.   

The Company has historically generated cash flows from operations that have funded its capital expenditure 
requirements.  Cash flows from operations were $54.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, which were 
$1.5 million less than 2004 net capital expenditures for acquisition of property and equipment.  The timing of capital 
expenditures can largely be managed around the seasonal working capital requirements of the Company.  In 
addition, the February 16, 2004 acquisition of Clark Bros. utilized approximately $23.5 million in cash and 
increased outstanding indebtedness by $6.2 million.  However, the Company has adequate sources of capital to meet 
short-term liquidity needs through its cash ($7.5 million at December 31, 2004) and availability under its revolving 
credit facility ($34.0 million at December 31, 2004 and increased by $35 million on January 31, 2005).  In addition 
to these sources of liquidity, the Company has $25 million under its long-term debt facilities, which is available to 
fund other longer-term strategic investments.  The February 16, 2004 acquisition of Clark Bros. Transfer, Inc. 
utilized approximately $25 million in cash.  Future operating cash flows are primarily dependent upon the 
Company’s profitability and its ability to manage its working capital requirements, primarily accounts receivable, 
accounts payable and wage and benefit accruals.  The Company has the ability to adjust its capital expenditures in 
the event of a shortfall in anticipated operating cash flows.  The Company believes its current capital structure and 
availability under its borrowing facilities along with anticipated cash flows from future operations will be sufficient 
to fund planned replacements of revenue equipment and investments in technology.  Additional sources of capital 
may be needed to fund future long-term strategic growth initiatives.   
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Actual net capital expenditures are summarized in the following table (in millions): 

Year ended
2004 2003 2002

Land and structures:
Additions $  11.7   $  1.3   $  6.7   
Sales (2.8)  (0.4)  (1.8)  

Revenue equipment, net 40.3   42.5   12.6   
Technology and other 7.3   6.4   7.3   

56.5   49.8   24.8   
Clark Bros. acquisition 23.5   —    —    

Total $  80.0   $  49.8   $  24.8   
 

In accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, our operating leases are not 
recorded in our balance sheet; however, the minimum lease payments related to these leases are disclosed in the 
notes to our audited consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K, and in "Contractual Cash 
Obligations" table below.  In addition to the principal amounts disclosed in the tables below, the Company has 
interest obligations of approximately $9.5 million for 2005 and decreasing for each year thereafter, based on 
borrowings outstanding at December 31, 2004. 

Contractual Cash Obligations  

The following tables set forth a summary of our contractual cash obligations and other commercial commitments as 
of December 31, 2004 (in millions): 

Payments due by year
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 Thereafter Total

Contractual cash obligations:
Long-term debt obligations:

Revolving line of credit (1) $   —    $ —    $   —    $   —    $   —    $   —    $     —    
Long-term debt (1) 1.3    6.4    11.4    17.6    18.9    67.2    122.8    

Operating leases 13.0    9.7    6.2    3.4    1.4    0.9    34.6    
Purchase obligations (2) 33.0    0.2    0.1    0.2    —    —    33.5    

Total contractual 
obligations $47.3    $16.3    $17.7    $21.2    $20.3    $68.1    $190.9    

 
(1)  See Note 4 to the accompanying audited consolidated financial statements in this Form 10-K.  

(2)  Includes commitments of $27.9 million for capital expenditures.  
 

 Amount of commitment expiration by year
 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 Thereafter Total
 

Other commercial commitments:
Available line of credit $   —    $34.0    $ —    $ —    $ —    $ —    $34.0    
Letters of credit 41.7    1.8    —    —    —    —    43.5    
Surety bonds 3.0    —    —    —    —    —    3.0    

Total commercial
commitments $44.7    $35.8    $ —    $ —    $ —    $ —    $80.5    

 
Critical Accounting Policies And Estimates  

SCST makes estimates and assumptions in preparing the consolidated financial statements that affect reported 
amounts and disclosures therein.  In the opinion of management, the accounting policies that generally have the 
most significant impact on the financial position and results of operations of SCST include: 

• Claims and Insurance Accruals.  SCST has self-insured retention limits generally ranging from $250,000 to 
$2,000,000 per claim for medical, workers' compensation, auto liability, casualty and cargo claims.  For only 
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the policy year March 2003 through February 2004, the Company has an aggregate exposure limited to an 
additional $2,000,000 above its $1,000,000 per claim deductible under its auto liability program.  The 
liabilities associated with the risk retained by SCST are estimated in part based on historical experience, 
third-party actuarial analysis, demographics, nature and severity, past experience and other assumptions.  The 
liabilities for self-funded retention are included in claims and insurance reserves based on claims incurred, 
with liabilities for unsettled claims and claims incurred but not yet reported being actuarially determined with 
respect to workers’ compensation claims and with respect to all other liabilities, estimated based on 
management’s evaluation of the nature and severity of individual claims and historical experience.  However, 
these estimated accruals could be significantly affected if the actual costs of SCST differ from these 
assumptions.  A significant number of these claims typically take several years to develop and even longer to 
ultimately settle.  These estimates tend to be reasonably accurate over time; however, assumptions regarding 
severity of claims, medical cost inflation, as well as specific case facts can create short-term volatility in 
estimates.  

• Revenue Recognition and Related Allowances.  Revenue is recognized on a percentage-of-completion basis 
for shipments in transit while expenses are recognized as incurred.  In addition, estimates included in the 
recognition of revenue and accounts receivable include estimates of shipments in transit and estimates of 
future adjustments to revenue and accounts receivable for billing adjustments and collectibility. 

Revenue is recognized in a systematic process whereby estimates of shipments in transit are based upon 
actual shipments picked up, scheduled day of delivery and current trend in average rates charged to 
customers.  Since the cycle for pick up and delivery of shipments is generally 1-3 days, typically less than 5 
percent of a total month’s revenue is in transit at the end of any month.  Estimates for credit losses and billing 
adjustments are based upon historical experience of credit losses, adjustments processed and trends of 
collections.  Billing adjustments are primarily made for discounts and billing corrections.  These estimates are 
continuously evaluated and updated; however, changes in economic conditions, pricing arrangements and 
other factors can significantly impact these estimates. 

• Depreciation and Capitalization of Assets.  Under the SCST accounting policy for property and equipment, 
management establishes appropriate depreciable lives and salvage values for SCST’s revenue equipment 
(tractors and trailers) based on their estimated useful lives and estimated fair values to be received when the 
equipment is sold or traded in.  These estimates are continuously evaluated and updated when circumstances 
warrant.  However, actual depreciation and salvage values could differ from these assumptions based on 
market conditions and other factors. 

• Recovery of Goodwill.  In connection with its acquisition in 2004, SCST allocated purchase price based on 
independent appraisals of intangible assets and real property and management’s estimates of valuations of 
other tangible assets.  Annually, SCST assesses goodwill impairment by applying a fair value based test.  
This fair value based test involves assumptions regarding the long-term future performance of the operating 
subsidiaries of SCST, fair value of the assets and liabilities of SCST, cost of capital rates and other 
assumptions.  However, actual recovery of remaining goodwill could differ from these assumptions based on 
market conditions and other factors.  In the event remaining goodwill is determined to be impaired a charge to 
earnings would be required. 

• Equity-based Incentive Compensation.  The Company maintains long-term incentive compensation 
arrangements that have three-year performance periods.  The criteria for awards are SCST’s total shareholder 
return versus a peer group of companies over the performance period.  The Company accrues for plan 
expenses based on performance criteria from the beginning of the performance period through the reporting 
date.  This results in the potential for significant adjustments from period to period that cannot be predicted.   

These accounting policies, and others, are described in further detail in the notes to our audited consolidated 
financial statements included in this Form 10-K. 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States requires management to adopt accounting policies and make significant judgments and estimates to develop 
amounts reflected and disclosed in the financial statements. In many cases, there are alternative policies or 
estimation techniques that could be used. We maintain a thorough process to review the application of our 
accounting policies and to evaluate the appropriateness of the many estimates that are required to prepare the 



 

23 

financial statements. However, even under optimal circumstances, estimates routinely require adjustment based on 
changing circumstances and the receipt of new or better information.  

Forward-Looking Statements  

Certain statements in this Form 10-K, including those contained in Item 1 and Item 7 “Outlook” and “Financial 
Condition” are “forward-looking” statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 
1995 with respect to the financial condition, results of operations, plans, objectives, future performance and business 
of SCST.  Words such as “anticipate,” “estimate,” “expect,” “project,” “intend,” “plan,” “predict,” “believe” and 
similar words or expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements.  We use such forward-looking 
statements regarding our future financial condition and results of operations and our business operations in this 
Form 10-K.  All forward-looking statements reflect the present expectation of future events of our management and 
are subject to a number of important factors, risks, uncertainties and assumptions that could cause actual results to 
differ materially from those described in the forward-looking statements.  These factors and risks include, but are 
not limited to, general economic conditions; labor relations; cost and availability of qualified drivers, fuel, purchased 
transportation and operating assets; governmental regulations, including but not limited to Hours of Service, engine 
emissions, compliance with recent legislation requiring companies to evaluate their internal control over financial 
reporting and Homeland Security; dependence on key employees; inclement weather; integration risks; competitive 
initiatives and pricing pressures; self-insurance claims, equity-based compensation and other expense volatility; and 
other financial, operational and legal risks and uncertainties detailed from time to time in the Company’s SEC 
filings. 

As a result of these and other factors, no assurance can be given as to our future results and achievements. 
Accordingly, a forward-looking statement is neither a prediction nor a guarantee of future events or circumstances, 
and those future events or circumstances may not occur. You should not place undue reliance on the forward-
looking statements, which speak only as of the date of this Form 10-K. We are under no obligation, and we 
expressly disclaim any obligation, to update or alter any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new 
information, future events or otherwise.  
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Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  

The management of SCS Transportation, Inc. and subsidiaries is responsible for establishing and maintaining 
adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934.  

All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations.  Therefore, even those systems 
determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and 
presentation.  Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect 
misstatements.  Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls 
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or 
procedures may deteriorate.   

The Company’s management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting 
as of December 31, 2004.  In making this assessment the Company’s management used criteria set forth by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control - Integrated 
Framework.  Based on this assessment, management has concluded that as of December 31, 2004, the Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting is effective based on those criteria.   

The Company’s independent auditors, KPMG LLP, have issued an audit report on our assessment of the Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting, which appears on page 27 of this Form 10-K. 

Herbert A. Trucksess, III  Chairman, President and Chief Executive 
Officer 

 
James J. Bellinghausen 

  
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
(Principal Financial Officer) 

 
Stephanie R. Maschmeier 

  
Controller 
(Principal Accounting Officer) 

 
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk  

SCST is exposed to a variety of market risks, including the effects of interest rates and fuel prices.  The detail of 
SCST’s debt structure is more fully described in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.  To mitigate our 
risk to rising fuel prices, Saia and Jevic each have implemented fuel surcharge programs.  These programs are well 
established within the industry and customer acceptance of fuel surcharges remains high.  Since the amount of fuel 
surcharge is based on average national diesel fuel prices and is reset weekly, exposure of SCST to fuel price 
volatility is significantly reduced. 

The following table provides information about SCST third-party financial instruments as of December 31, 2004 
with comparative information for December 31, 2003.  The table presents principal cash flows (in millions) and 
related weighted average interest rates by contractual maturity dates.  The fair value of the fixed rate debt was 
estimated based upon the borrowing rates currently available to the Company for debt with similar terms and 
remaining maturities. 

Expected maturity date 2004 2003

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
There-
after Total

Fair 
Value Total

Fair 
Value

Fixed rate debt $1.3  $6.4  $11.4  $11.4  $18.9  $67.2  $116.6  $126.2  $116.5  $127.6  
Average interest rate 7.00%  7.24%  7.32%  7.33%  7.34%  7.34%  
Variable rate debt $ —  $ —  $   —  $  6.2  $   —  $   —  $    6.2  $    6.2  $     —  $     —  
Average interest rate —  —  —  3.25%  —  —  
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

 
 
The Board of Directors and Shareholders 
SCS Transportation, Inc.: 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of SCS Transportation, Inc. and subsidiaries as of 
December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity, and cash 
flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2004. These consolidated financial 
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
consolidated financial statements based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States).  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, 
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
financial statement presentation.  We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of SCS Transportation, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the results of 
their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2004, in 
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States), the effectiveness of SCS Transportation, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 
2004, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated February 17, 2005, expressed 
an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of, and the effective operation of, internal control over 
financial reporting. 

/s/  KPMG LLP 

Kansas City, Missouri 
February 17, 2005 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 
 
 
The Board of Directors and Shareholders 
SCS Transportation, Inc.: 
 
We have audited management's assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal 
Control over Financial Reporting, that SCS Transportation, Inc. maintained effective internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued 
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). SCS Transportation Inc.’s 
management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment 
of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
management's assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial 
reporting based on our audit. 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit 
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management's 
assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such 
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable 
basis for our opinion. 
 
A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.  A company's internal control over financial reporting 
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, 
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable 
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made 
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable 
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s 
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.   
 
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.  
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may 
deteriorate. 
 
In our opinion, management's assessment that SCS Transportation, Inc. maintained effective internal control over 
financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on criteria established in 
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by COSO. Also, in our opinion, SCS Transportation, Inc. 
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, 
based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by COSO. 
 
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States), the consolidated balance sheets of SCS Transportation, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 
2003, and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the 
years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2004, and our report dated February 17, 2005, expressed an 
unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements. 
 
 
/s/  KPMG LLP 
 
Kansas City, Missouri 
February 17, 2005 
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SCS Transportation, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2004 and 2003

(in thousands, except share data)
Assets 2004 2003
Current Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $    7,499   $   30,870   
Accounts receivable, less allowance of $4,598 and $5,118

in 2004 and 2003, respectively 110,044   93,283   
Prepaid expenses 13,628   10,824   
Income tax receivable 6,592   —    
Deferred income taxes 10,723   15,714   
Other current assets 4,778   3,823   

Total current assets 153,264   154,514   
Property and Equipment, at cost 569,526   519,715   

Less-accumulated depreciation 248,914   227,322   
Net property and equipment 320,612   292,393   

Goodwill, net 30,841   14,796   
Other Identifiable Intangibles, net 2,398   624   
Other Noncurrent Assets 1,623   1,739   

Total assets $508,738   $464,066   

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities:

Checks outstanding $    7,361   $    7,844   
Accounts payable 25,832   19,701   
Wages, vacations and employees’ benefits 35,761   30,779   
Claims and insurance accruals 16,045   10,757   
Accrued liabilities 12,936   19,795   
Current portion of long-term debt 1,263   —    

Total current liabilities 99,198   88,876   

Other Liabilities:
Long-term debt 121,547   116,510   
Deferred income taxes 57,662   50,623   
Claims, insurance and other 17,789   18,475   

Total other liabilities 196,998   185,608   
Commitments and Contingencies
Shareholders’ Equity:

Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 50,000 shares authorized, 
none issued and outstanding —    —    

Common stock, $0.001 par value, 50,000,000 shares authorized,
15,096,087 and 14,776,160 shares issued and outstanding 
in 2004 and 2003, respectively 15   15   

Additional paid-in-capital 205,800   201,743   
Deferred compensation trust, 76,947 and  63,617 shares of 

common stock at cost in 2004 and 2003, respectively (1,116)  (760)  
Retained earnings (deficit) 7,843   (11,416)  

Total shareholders’ equity 212,542   189,582   
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $508,738   $464,066   

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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SCS Transportation, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations

For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002
(in thousands, except share data)

2004 2003 2002

Operating Revenue $ 982,270   $ 827,359   $ 775,436   

Operating Expenses:
Salaries, wages and employees’ benefits 549,511   465,714   439,590   
Purchased transportation 92,099   81,551   77,885   
Operating expenses and supplies 187,096   145,363   131,681   
Operating taxes and licenses 38,017   32,431   30,754   
Claims and insurance 27,758   25,391   22,781   
Depreciation and amortization 47,968   44,039   44,920   
Operating (gains) and losses (3,067)  (12)  595   
Integration charges 2,054   —    —    

Total operating expenses 941,436   794,477   748,206   

Operating Income 40,834   32,882   27,230   
Nonoperating Expenses:

Interest expense 9,735   9,460   6,192   
Interest income (139)  (217)  (23)  
Other, net (173)  (273)  102   

Nonoperating expenses, net 9,423   8,970   6,271   

Income Before Income Taxes and Cumulative Effect of
Accounting Change 31,411   23,912   20,959   

Income Tax Provision 12,152   8,979   8,901   
Income Before Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change 19,259   14,933   12,058   
Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting for Goodwill —    —    (75,175)  

Net Income (Loss) $  19,259   $  14,933   $ (63,117)  

Average common shares outstanding – basic 14,858   14,687   14,585   

Average common shares outstanding – diluted 15,312   15,129   14,671   

Basic Earnings (Loss) Per Share:
Income before cumulative effect of accounting change $  1.30   $  1.02   $   0.83   
Cumulative effect of change in accounting for goodwill —    —    (5.16)  
Net income (loss) $  1.30   $  1.02   $ (4.33)  

Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share:
Income before cumulative effect of accounting change $  1.26   $  0.99   $   0.82   
Cumulative effect of change in accounting for goodwill —    —    (5.12)  
Net income (loss) $  1.26   $  0.99   $ (4.30)  

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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portation, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002
(in thousands)

Additional Deferred Retained
Former 
Parent

Common Paid-in Compensation Earnings Company
Stock Capital Trust (Deficit) Equity Tota

Balance at December 31, 2001 $ —    $        —    $        —    $       —    $229,649   $229
E

l
,649   

quity contribution by former Parent —    —    —    —    6,936   6,
Stock distribution b

936   
y former Parent 15   200,133   —    36,437   (236,585)  —    

Exercise of stock options, including
tax benefits of $87 —    478   —    —    —    

Net loss
478   

—    —    —    (63,117)  —    (63,117)  
Accumulated other comprehensive

income —    —    —    331   —    
Total com

331   
prehensive loss (62,786)  

Balance at December 31, 2002 15   200,611   —    (26,349)  —    174,
Shares issued for director compensation —    89   —    —    —    
Stock com

277   
89   

pensation for director options —    143   —    —    —    
Exercise of stock o

143   
ptions, including

tax benefits of $342 —    900   —    —    —    
Purchase of shares b

900   
y deferred 

compensation trust —    —    (760)  —    —    (760)  
Net income —    —    —    14,933   —    14

Balance at December 31, 2003 15   201,743   

,933   

(760)  (11,416)  —    189,
Shares issued for director compensation —    25   —    —    —    
Stock com

582   
25   

pensation for director options —    153   —    —    —    
Exercise of stock o

153   
ptions, including

tax benefits of $2,084 —    3,811   —    —    —    3
Purchase of shares b

,811   
y deferred 

compensation trust —    —    (446)  —    —    (446)  
Sale of shares by deferred 

compensation trust —    68   90   —    —    
Net income

158   
—    —    —    19,259   —    19

Balance at December 31, 2004 $ 15   $205,800   $     (1,116)  $   7,843   $        —    $212,

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

,259   

542   
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SCS Transportation, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002
(in thousands)

2004 2003 2002
Operating Activities:

Net income (loss) $  19,259   $  14,933   $ (63,117)  
Noncash items included in net income:

Cumulative effect of change in accounting
for goodwill —    —    75,175   

Depreciation and amortization 47,968   44,039   44,920   
Provision for doubtful accounts 1,998   2,051   3,924   
Deferred income taxes 11,354   384   (3,918)  
(Gain) losses from property disposals, net (3,067)  (12)  595   
Stock based compensation for directors 178   232   —    

Changes in assets and liabilities, net:
Accounts receivable (12,289)  (7,707)  (6,903)  
Accounts payable and checks outstanding 1,483   3,286   (6,084)  
Other working capital items (10,964)  (1,481)  968   
Claims, insurance and other (686)  3,467   6,649   
Other, net (340)  (922)  (1,770)  

Net cash from operating activities 54,894   58,270   50,439   
Investing Activities:

Acquisition of property and equipment (67,113)  (55,548)  (33,101)  
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment 10,670   5,718   8,309   
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash received (23,549)  —    —    

Net cash used in investing activities (79,992)  (49,830)  (24,792)  
Financing Activities:

Proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt —    —    110,820   
Repayment of long-term debt —    —    (33,245)  
Stock option exercises 1,727   558   391   
Net change in notes to former Parent —    —    (83,221)  

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 1,727   558   (5,255)  
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents (23,371)  8,998   20,392   
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 30,870   21,872   1,480   
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $   7,499   $  30,870   $    21,872   

Noncash Transactions:
Issuance of note to seller in acquisition $   6,200   $        —     $          —    
Decrease in notes to former Parent —    —    (6,936)  
Equity contribution by former Parent —    —    6,936   

Supplemental Cash Flow Information:
Income taxes paid, net 9,745   12,470   12,155   
Interest paid 9,533   9,428   6,017   

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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SCS Transportation, Inc. and Subsidiaries 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 

1. Description of Business and Summary of Accounting Policies 

Description of Business 

SCS Transportation, Inc. (SCST or the Company), headquartered in Kansas City, Missouri, is a leading 
transportation company providing regional and interregional less than truckload (LTL) and selected truckload (TL) 
service solutions to customers across the United States through its two wholly-owned regional transportation 
subsidiaries, Saia Motor Freight Line, Inc. and Jevic Transportation, Inc. 

• Saia Motor Freight Line, Inc. (Saia) is a multi-regional LTL carrier providing overnight, second-
day and selective longer haul delivery in 30 states across the South, Southwest, West, Midwest 
and Pacific Northwest United States.  Saia employs approximately 6,200 employees and is 
headquartered in Duluth, Georgia.  The consolidated financial statements include the financial 
position and results of operations of Clark Bros. Transfer, Inc. (Clark Bros.) since its acquisition 
date of February 16, 2004.  The Company merged Clark Bros. into Saia and integrated operations 
in May 2004 (See Note 2). 

• Jevic Transportation, Inc. (Jevic) is a hybrid LTL and TL carrier providing regional, 
interregional and time-definite delivery across the continental United States and portions of 
Canada.  Jevic employs approximately 2,700 employees and is headquartered in Delanco, New 
Jersey.   

Basis of Presentation 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of SCST and its subsidiaries, all of which 
are wholly owned.  All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in the consolidated 
financial statements.   

The Spin-off 

On September 30, 2002, Yellow Corporation (Yellow or former Parent) completed the spin-off of its 100 percent 
interest in SCST to Yellow shareholders (the Spin-off) in a tax-free distribution under Section 355 of the Internal 
Revenue Code.  SCST common stock is listed on the NASDAQ under the symbol ”SCST”.  SCST paid $113.6 
million due in satisfaction of intercompany indebtedness to Yellow.  In addition, SCST assumed $16.4 million in 
subordinated notes to comprise the $130 million dividend due Yellow under the Master Separation and Distribution 
Agreement.  The remaining $6.9 million reduction in the intercompany indebtedness to Yellow was a capital 
contribution from Yellow to SCST at the separation date.  Immediately prior to the distribution, SCST and Yellow 
entered into the Master Separation and Distribution Agreement and the Tax Indemnification and Allocation 
Agreement to define their ongoing relationship after the distribution, the allocation of tax, employee benefits 
(including the adjustment of certain stock options outstanding under Yellow stock option plans), the satisfaction of 
intercompany debt and certain other liabilities and obligations arising from periods prior to the distribution date.  
SCST shares were distributed to Yellow shareholders on the basis of one SCST share for every two Yellow shares 
held on the record date of September 3, 2002.  The total number of SCST shares distributed was 14,565,478.  At the 
Spin-off, SCST’s assets and liabilities have been presented at historical cost.  Substantially all transaction costs 
associated with the Spin-off (including legal, accounting, investment banking and certain financing costs) were paid 
for by the former Parent under the terms of the Master Separation and Distribution Agreement. 

Use of Estimates 

Management makes estimates and assumptions when preparing the consolidated financial statements in conformity 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.  These estimates and assumptions affect the 
amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and footnotes.  Actual results could differ from those 
estimates. 
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Summary of accounting policies 

Major accounting policies and practices used in the preparation of the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements not covered in other notes to the consolidated financial statements are as follows: 

Cash Equivalents:  Cash equivalents in excess of current operating requirements are invested in short-term interest 
bearing instruments purchased with original maturities of three months or less and are stated at cost, which 
approximates market.  Prior to the Spin-off, the Company participated in the former Parent’s cash management 
program.  Cash balances in excess of daily operating needs were transferred to and invested by the former Parent.   

Fuel:  Fuel is carried at average cost.  To mitigate the Company’s risk to rising fuel prices, the Company’s operating 
subsidiaries each have implemented fuel surcharge programs and considered effects of these fuel surcharge 
programs in customer pricing negotiations.  Since the amount of fuel surcharge billed to customers is based on 
average national diesel fuel prices and is reset weekly, exposure of SCST to fuel price volatility is significantly 
reduced.   

Interest Rate Swap:  The Company utilized interest rate swap contracts to hedge a portion of its LIBOR-based 
variable rate debt through September 30, 2002 at which time these obligations were settled by the former Parent in 
connection with the Spin-off.  The differentials to be received or paid under contracts designated as hedges were 
recognized as adjustments to interest expense over the life of the contract.  At December 31, 2001, the Company 
recorded $0.3 million in unrealized loss on the interest rate contracts as a decrease to accumulated other 
comprehensive income included in parent company equity.  The $0.3 million unrealized loss was reversed in 2002 
as a result of the settlement. 

Property and Equipment Including Repairs and Maintenance:  Property and equipment are carried at cost less 
accumulated depreciation.  Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method based on the following service 
lives: 

Years

Structures 20 to 25
Tractors 3 to 10
Trailers 10 to 14
Other revenue equipment 3 to 14
Technology equipment and software 3 to 8
Other 3 to 10

 
 

At December 31, property and equipment consisted of the following (in thousands): 

 2004 2003

Land $   31,770   $   23,534   
Structures 91,930   86,134   
Tractors 202,651   186,087   
Trailers 149,367   134,748   
Other Revenue equipment 22,267   21,440   
Technology equipment and software 38,531   39,251   
Other 33,010   28,521   

Total property and equipment, at cost $ 569,526   $ 519,715   

 
Maintenance and repairs are charged to operations currently; replacements and improvements that extend the asset’s 
life are capitalized.  The Company’s investment in technology equipment and software consists primarily of systems 
to support customer service and freight management. 

Goodwill:  Goodwill is recognized for the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of tangible and 
identifiable intangible net assets of businesses acquired. Since adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards No. (“SFAS”) 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” in January 2002, amortization of goodwill 
was discontinued and goodwill is reviewed at least annually for impairment based on fair value. Accumulated 
amortization of goodwill was $7.4 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003.  See also Note 6. 
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Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use:  The Company capitalizes certain costs associated with 
developing or obtaining internal-use software.  Capitalizable costs include external direct costs of materials and 
services utilized in developing or obtaining the software and payroll and payroll-related costs for employees directly 
associated with the project.  For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, the Company capitalized $1.1 
million, $1.2 million, and $1.7 million, respectively, of primarily payroll-related costs. 

Claims and Insurance Accruals:  Claims and insurance accruals, both current and long-term, reflect the estimated 
cost of claims for workers’ compensation (discounted to present value), cargo loss and damage, and bodily injury 
and property damage not covered by insurance.  These costs are included in claims and insurance expense, except 
for workers’ compensation, which is included in employees’ benefits expense.  The liabilities for self-funded 
retention are included in claims and insurance reserves based on claims incurred, with liabilities for unsettled claims 
and claims incurred but not yet reported being actuarially determined with respect to workers’ compensation claims 
and with respect to all other liabilities, estimated based on management’s evaluation of the nature and severity of 
individual claims and past experience.  The former Parent provides guarantees for claims in certain self-insured 
states that arose prior to the Spin-off date. 

Risk retention amounts per occurrence during the three years ended December 31, 2004, were as follows: 

Workers’ compensation $   500,000 to 1,000,000 

Bodily injury and property damage 1,000,000 to 2,000,000 

Employee medical and hospitalization 250,000 

Cargo loss and damage 250,000 

For the policy year March 2003 through February 2004, the Company has an aggregate exposure limited to an 
additional $2,000,000 above its $1,000,000 per claim deductible under its auto liability program.  The retention 
increased to $2,000,000 per claim beginning in March 2004. 

The former Parent provided an intermediate layer of self-insurance behind the specific retention levels for bodily 
injury and property damage claims for the Company up to $1.0 million per occurrence through September 30, 2002.  
The Company was assessed a premium from the former Parent.  Premiums paid to the former Parent under these 
insurance arrangements were $0.9 million in 2002.  Included in the consolidated financial statements are costs 
incurred by the former Parent in excess of premiums received from the Company for the intermediate layer of self-
insurance described above.  The additional pretax costs were $1.2 million in 2002.  The Company assumed all open 
self-insurance claims of its operating subsidiaries from the former Parent in connection with the Spin-off.   

Revenue Recognition:  Revenue is recognized on a percentage-of-completion basis for shipments in transit while 
expenses are recognized as incurred. 

Stock-Based Compensation:  For all stock option grants prior to January 1, 2003, stock-based compensation to 
employees is accounted for based on the intrinsic value method under Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25 
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” and related interpretations, including Financial Accounting Standards 
Board (FASB) Interpretation No. 44 “Accounting for Certain Transactions involving Stock Compensation”.  
Accordingly, no stock-based compensation expense related to stock option awards was recorded in the year ended 
December 31, 2002. 

Effective January 1, 2003, the Company adopted the fair value method of recording stock option expense under 
SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” as amended by SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for 
Stock-Based Compensation – Transition and Disclosure, an amendment of FASB Statement No. 123”.  Under SFAS 
No. 123 the Company recognizes stock option expense prospectively for all stock awards granted after January 1, 
2003.  Stock option grants after January 1, 2003 are expensed over the vesting period based on the fair value at the 
date the options are granted.   

In connection with the Spin-off effective October 1, 2002, all former Parent company stock options issued and 
outstanding to employees of SCST were replaced with SCST stock options with equivalent vesting, contract terms 
and an intrinsic value identical to the value of the former parent company options being replaced. 



 

35 

The following table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share during the years ended December 31, 
2004, 2003 and 2002 if the Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” for all stock option grants prior to January 1, 2003, the date the 
Company adopted SFAS No. 123 (in thousands, except per share data): 

 

2004 2003 2002

Net income (loss), as reported $19,259   $14,933   $(63,117)  
Add:  Stock-based compensation expense included in

reported net income, net of tax 95    88    —    
Deduct:  Total stock-based compensation expense

determined using fair value based method for
all awards, net of tax (252)  (1,059)  (2,411)  

Pro forma net income (loss) $19,102   $13,962   $(65,528)  

Earnings (loss) per share:
As reported – Basic earnings (loss) per share $  1.30   $  1.02   $  (4.33)  
Pro forma – Basic earnings (loss) per share $  1.29   $  0.95   $  (4.49)  

As reported – Diluted earnings (loss) per share $  1.26   $  0.99   $  (4.30)  
Pro forma – Diluted earnings (loss) per share $  1.25   $  0.92   $  (4.47)  

 

Credit Risk:  The Company routinely grants credit to its customers.  The risk of significant loss in trade receivables 
is substantially mitigated by the Company’s credit evaluation process, short collection terms, low revenue per 
transaction and services performed for a large number of customers with no single customer representing more than 
3.5 percent of consolidated revenue.  Allowances for potential credit losses are based on historical experience, 
current economic environment, expected trends and customer specific factors. 

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets:  If facts and circumstances indicate that the carrying value of identifiable 
intangibles and long-lived assets may be impaired, the Company would perform an evaluation of recoverability.  If 
an evaluation were required, the Company would compare the estimated future undiscounted cash flows associated 
with the asset to the asset’s carrying amount to determine if a write-down is required. 

Advertising:  The costs of advertising are expensed as incurred.  Advertising costs charged to expense were $2.1 
million, $1.9 million and $1.7 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. 

Reclassifications:  Certain inconsequential reclassifications have been made to the prior year consolidated financial 
statements to conform with current presentation. 

New Accounting Pronouncements 

On December 16, 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued FASB Statement No. 123 
(revised 2004), Share-Based Payments, which is a revision of FASB Statement No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based 
Compensation. Statement 123(R) supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and 
amends FASB Statement No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows. Generally, the approach in Statement 123(R) is similar 
to the approach described in Statement 123. However, Statement 123(R) requires all share-based payments to 
employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the income statement based on their fair 
values. Pro forma disclosure is no longer an alternative.   

Statement 123(R) must be adopted no later than July 1, 2005. Early adoption will be permitted in periods in which 
financial statements have not yet been issued. We expect to adopt Statement 123(R) on July 1, 2005. 

Statement 123(R) permits public companies to adopt its requirements using one of two methods: 

1. A “modified prospective” method in which compensation cost is recognized beginning with the effective 
date (a) based on the requirements of Statement 123(R) for all share-based payments granted after the 
effective date and (b) based on the requirements of Statement 123 for all awards granted to employees prior 
to the effective date of Statement 123(R) that remain unvested on the effective date.  
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2. A “modified retrospective” method which includes the requirements of the modified prospective method 
described above, but also permits entities to restate based on the amounts previously recognized under 
Statement 123 for purposes of pro forma disclosures either (a) all prior periods presented or (b) prior 
interim periods of the year of adoption. 

The Company plans to adopt Statement 123(R) using the modified-prospective method. 

The Company adopted the fair-value-based method of accounting for share-based payments effective January 1, 
2003 using the prospective method described in FASB Statement No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based 
Compensation—Transition and Disclosure. Currently, the Company uses the Black-Scholes-Merton formula to 
estimate the value of stock options granted to employees and expects to continue to use this acceptable option 
valuation model upon the required adoption of Statement 123(R) on July 1, 2005. Although Statement 123(R) must 
be applied not only to new awards but to previously granted awards that are not fully vested on the effective date, 
because the Company previously adopted Statement 123 and all options granted prior to the adoption of Statement 
123 are currently fully vested, there should be no additional compensation costs to be recognized for previously 
granted awards. Additionally, had we adopted Statement 123(R) in prior periods, the impact of that standard would 
have approximated the impact of Statement 123 as described in the disclosure of pro forma net income and earnings 
per share in Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements.  Statement 123(R) also requires the benefits of tax 
deductions in excess of recognized compensation cost to be reported as a financing cash flow, rather than as an 
operating cash flow as required under current literature. This requirement will reduce net operating cash flows and 
increase net financing cash flows in periods after adoption. While the Company cannot estimate what those amounts 
will be in the future (because they depend on, among other things, when employees exercise stock options), the 
amount of operating cash flows recognized in prior periods for such excess tax deductions were $2.1 million, $0.3 
million, and $0.1 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. 

2. Acquisition 

On February 16, 2004, the Company acquired all of the outstanding common stock of Clark Bros., a Midwestern 
less-than-truckload carrier operating in eleven states with revenue of approximately $66 million in fiscal year 2003. 
Clark Bros. was merged and its operations integrated into Saia in May 2004, bringing the benefits of Saia 
transportation service to major Midwestern markets including Chicago, Minneapolis, St. Louis and Kansas City.  
The results of operations of Clark Bros. are included in the consolidated results of the Company since the mid-
February acquisition date.  The total consideration of $30.8 million includes $21.7 million for the purchase of all 
outstanding Clark Bros. equity, the repayment of $6.0 million of existing Clark Bros. debt and approximately $3.1 
million in consideration to structure the transaction as an asset sale for tax purposes. The transaction was financed 
from cash balances, existing revolving credit capacity, and a $6.2 million seller note payable in 2008 with a variable 
rate of interest, adjusted semi-annually, to prime less 1.25% reset semiannually in February and August (3.25% at 
December 31, 2004).  The Company has the right of set off against amounts payable under the seller note payable 
for any claim arising out of the Clark Bros. Transfer, Inc. Employee Stock Ownership Trust. 

The purchase price of Clark Bros. has been allocated based on independent appraisals and management’s estimates 
as follows (in thousands):   

Accounts receivable $   7,384   
Other current assets 1,964   
Property & equipment 14,323   
Acquired intangible assets:

Covenants not-to-compete (useful life of 4 years) 750   
Customer relationships (useful life of 6 years) 1,700   

Goodwill 16,045   
Current liabilities (11,373)  

Total allocation of purchase price $ 30,793   
 

The total amount of purchase price allocated to goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. 

Integration charges totaling $2.1 million were expensed in the year ended December 31, 2004.  These integration 
charges consist of employee retention and stay bonuses, communications, re-logoing the fleet of Clark Bros., 
technology integration and other miscellaneous items.  The Company does not anticipate any additional significant 
integration charges.  In addition, at the date of acquisition, the Company accrued and capitalized approximately $1.1 
million in exit costs as part of the purchase allocation for employee severance and lease costs associated with the 
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elimination of duplicate facilities.  At December 31, 2004, total remaining accrued exit costs were $0.4 million with 
changes during the year related to payments of these liabilities.  These accrued exit costs are anticipated to be fully 
paid by April 2006.   

The following unaudited pro forma financial information reflects the consolidated results of operations of SCS 
Transportation, Inc. as if the acquisition of Clark Bros. had taken place on January 1, 2003.  The year ended 
December 31, 2004 includes $2.1 million of integration charges that were not included in the year ended December 
31, 2003.  In addition to the historical results of Clark Bros., the pro forma information includes primarily 
adjustments for interest expense on estimated incremental acquisition debt and estimated amortization of acquired 
identifiable intangible assets.  The pro forma financial information is not necessarily indicative of the results of 
operations as it would have been had the transaction been effected on the assumed date. 

 Year Ended 
December 31, 2004 

 Year Ended 
December 31, 2003 

    
Pro forma revenue $990,366  $893,805 
Pro forma net income 19,000  16,858 
Pro forma diluted earnings per share 1.24  1.11 

 
3. Related-Party Transactions 

Prior to September 30, 2002, the former Parent provided services including legal, tax, internal audit, insurance 
administration, treasury and management for which the Company was assessed a management fee.  The 
management fee consisted of direct charges incurred on behalf of the subsidiaries and an allocation of corporate 
services costs based on each subsidiary’s revenue.  The management fee was $1.7 million in 2002.  The Company 
had working capital line-of-credit agreements with the former Parent totaling $225 million through September 30, 
2002.  These line-of-credit agreements had interest cost of 50 basis points over the LIBOR rate, adjusted quarterly.   

Subsequent to the Spin-off the former Parent continues to provide guarantees for certain pre-Spin-off workers’ 
compensation and casualty claims for which the Company is allocated its pro rata share of letters of credit and bonds 
the former Parent must maintain for these insurance programs.  The former Parent allocated $2.6 million and $5.6 
million of letters of credit and surety bonds at December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003, respectively, in 
connection with the Company’s insurance programs for which the Company pays quarterly the former Parent’s cost 
through October 1, 2004 and cost plus 100 basis points thereafter through 2006.  The former Parent also provided 
guarantees of approximately $4.1 million and $5.9 million for Saia service facility leases at December 31, 2004 and 
2003, respectively. 

Total interest expense under the borrowing arrangements with the former Parent was $1.8 million in 2002.  Interest 
expense was settled monthly through the Company’s borrowing arrangement with its former Parent. 

4. Debt and Financing Arrangements 

At December 31, debt consisted of the following (in thousands): 

2004 2003

Credit agreement with Banks, described below $          —    $          —    
Senior Notes under a Master Shelf Agreement,

described below 100,000   100,000   
Subordinated debentures, interest rate of 7.0%,

installment payments due from 2005 to 2011 16,610   16,510   
Note to seller as described in Note 2 6,200   —    

Total debt 122,810   116,510   

Current maturities 1,263   —    

Long-term debt $  121,547   $  116,510   
 

On September 20, 2002, SCST issued $100 million in Senior Notes under a $125 million Master Shelf Agreement 
with Prudential Investment Management, Inc. and certain of its affiliates and entered into a $50 million (amended 
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November 2003 to $75 million and in January 2005 to $110 million) Agented Revolving Credit Agreement (the 
Credit Agreement) with Bank of Oklahoma, N.A., as agent.  Proceeds from the Senior Notes and a portion of the 
Credit Agreement were used for payments due Yellow in connection with the completion of the Spin-off on 
September 30, 2002. 

The $100 million Senior Notes are unsecured, have a fixed interest rate of 7.38 percent and have an average maturity 
of eight years.  Payments due under the Senior Notes are interest only until June 30, 2006 and at that time semi-
annual principal payments begin with the final payment due December 2013.  Under the terms of the Senior Notes, 
SCST must maintain certain financial covenants including a maximum ratio of total indebtedness to earnings before 
interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization and rent (EBITDAR), a minimum interest coverage ratio and a minimum 
tangible net worth, among others.  At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company was in compliance with these 
covenants.   

The Credit Agreement is unsecured with an interest rate based on LIBOR or prime at the Company’s option, plus an 
applicable spread, in certain instances, and matures in September 2006.  On January 31, 2005, the Company 
amended and restated the Credit Agreement to increase the size of the facility to $110 million.  The Amended and 
Restated $110 million Credit Agreement now expires in January 2008 and removed a requirement that limited 
availability under the Credit Agreement to SCST’s qualified receivables.  At December 31, 2004, SCST had no 
borrowings under the Credit Agreement, $41.0 million in letters of credit outstanding under the Credit Agreement 
and remaining availability of $34.0 million.  At December 31, 2003, SCST had no borrowings under the Credit 
Agreement, $35.3 million in letters of credit outstanding under the Credit Agreement and remaining availability of 
$35.2 million.  Under the terms of the Credit Agreement, SCST must maintain certain financial covenants including 
a maximum ratio of total indebtedness to EBITDAR, a minimum interest coverage ratio and a minimum tangible net 
worth, among others.  The Amended and Restated $110 million Credit Agreement maintains the same financial 
covenants as the original agreement.  At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company was in compliance with these 
covenants.   

Based on the borrowing rates currently available to the Company for debt with similar terms and remaining 
maturities, the estimated fair value of total debt at December 31, 2004 and 2003 is $132.4 million and $127.6 
million, respectively.   

The principal maturities of long-term debt for the next five years (in thousands) are as follows: 

 Amount 
 
2005 

 
$  1,263 

2006 6,438 
2007 11,438 
2008 17,638 
2009 18,938 
Thereafter 67,095 

 
5. Commitments, Contingencies and Uncertainties 

The Company leases certain service facilities and equipment.  Rent expense was $14.1 million, $10.8 million and 
$10.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. 

At December 31, 2004, the Company was committed under noncancellable lease agreements requiring minimum 
annual rentals payable as follows (in thousands):  

 Amount 
 
2005 

 
$  12,976 

2006 9,702 
2007 6,200 
2008 3,411 
2009 1,417 
Thereafter  894 

 
Management expects that in the normal course of business leases will be renewed or replaced as they expire.  
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Capital expenditures of approximately $27.9 million were committed at December 31, 2004. 

The Company is subject to legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of its business. In the opinion of 
management, the aggregate liability, if any, with respect to these actions will not materially adversely affect our 
financial position, results of operations or cash flows.  

6. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets 

The Company adopted SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”, on January 1, 2002.  SFAS No. 142 
requires that upon adoption and at least annually thereafter, the Company assess goodwill impairment by applying a 
fair value based test.  With the adoption of Statement No. 142, goodwill is no longer subject to amortization. 

At December 31, 2001 the Company had $90 million of goodwill on its consolidated balance sheet, consisting 
primarily of $75.2 million remaining from the acquisition of Jevic.  In valuing the goodwill of Jevic, the Company 
used an estimate of Jevic’s discounted cash flows in measuring whether goodwill was recoverable.  Based on this 
estimate, the Company determined that 100 percent of the Jevic goodwill was impaired due to lower business 
volumes, compounded by a weak economy, and an increasingly competitive business environment.  As a result, the 
Company recorded a non-cash charge of $75.2 million in the first quarter 2002, which was reflected as a cumulative 
effect of a change in accounting principle.   

The net carrying amount of goodwill attributed to each reportable operating segment with goodwill balances and 
adjustments follows (in thousands): 

Saia Jevic Consolidated

December 31, 2001 $ 14,796   $ 75,175   $ 89,971   
Impairment Adjustment —    (75,175)  (75,175)  

December 31, 2002 14,796   —    14,796   
No Change —    —    —    

December 31, 2003 14,796   —    14,796   
Goodwill Acquired (Note 2) 16,045   —    16,045   

December 31, 2004 $ 30,841   $       —    $ 30,841   
 

In connection with adopting SFAS No. 142, the Company also reassessed the useful lives and the classification of its 
identifiable intangible assets other than goodwill and determined that they continue to be appropriate.  All 
identifiable intangible assets are recorded at Saia.  The gross amounts and accumulated amortization of identifiable 
intangible assets at Saia are as follows (in thousands): 

Gross Accumulated Gross Accumulated
Amount Amortization Amount Amortization

Amortizable intangible assets:

Customer relationships $ 1,700   $    248   $     —    $     —    
Covenants not-to-compete 2,713   1,767   1,963   1,339   

$ 4,413   $ 2,015   $ 1,963   $ 1,339   

December 31, 2004 December 31, 2003

 

Amortization expense for intangible assets other than goodwill was $0.7 million for 2004, $0.3 million for 2003 and 
$0.3 million for 2002. Estimated amortization expense for the five succeeding years follows (in thousands): 

 Amount 
 
2005 

 
$  734 

2006 567 
2007 471 
2008 307 
2009 283 
2010 36 
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7. Computation of Earnings Per Share 

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share for all periods prior to the Spin-off was based upon the shares 
outstanding as of the date of the Spin-off from Yellow, which was September 30, 2002.  Effective October 1, 2002, 
diluted earnings per share includes the dilutive impact of outstanding stock options as shown below. 

The calculation of basic earnings per common share and diluted earnings per common share was as follows (in 
thousands except per share amounts):  

Year ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002

Numerator:
Net income (loss) $ 19,259   $ 14,933   $ (63,117)  

Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings per share–

weighted average common shares 14,858   14,687   14,585   
Effect of dilutive stock options 452   442   86   
Effect of other common stock equivalents 2   —    —    
Denominator for diluted earnings per share–

adjusted weighted average common shares 15,312   15,129   14,671   

Basic Earnings (Loss) Per Share:
Income before cumulative effect of accounting change $   1.30   $   1.02   $   0.83   
Cumulative effect of change in accounting for goodwill —    —    (5.16)  
Net income (loss) $   1.30   $   1.02   $ (4.33)  

Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share:
Income before cumulative effect of accounting change $   1.26   $   0.99   $   0.82   
Cumulative effect of change in accounting for goodwill —    —    (5.12)  
Net income (loss) $   1.26   $   0.99   $ (4.30)  

 

8. Shareholders’ Equity 

Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock  

As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company has 5,000 shares of preferred stock that are designated “Series A 
Junior Participating Preferred Stock” and are reserved for issuance upon exercise of the preferred stock rights under 
the rights agreement described below.  Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock is nonredeemable and 
subordinate to any other series of the Company’s preferred stock, unless otherwise provided for in the terms of the 
preferred stock; has a preferential dividend in an amount equal to 10,000 times any dividend declared on each share 
of common stock; has 10,000 votes per share, voting together with the Company’s common stock; and in the event 
of liquidation, entitles its holder to receive a preferred liquidation payment equal to the greater of $10,000 or 10,000 
times the payment made per share of common stock.  As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, none of these shares have 
been issued. 

Preferred Stock Rights 

Each issued and outstanding share of common stock has associated with it one right to purchase shares of SCS 
Transportation, Inc. Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock, no par value, pursuant to a Rights Agreement 
dated September 30, 2002 between the Company and Mellon Investor Services LLC. The Company will issue one 
right to purchase one one-ten-thousandth share of its Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock as a dividend on 
each share of common stock. The rights initially are attached to and trade with the shares of common stock. Value 
attributable to these rights, if any, is reflected in the market price of the common stock.  The rights are not currently 
exercisable, but could become exercisable if certain events occur, including the acquisition of 15 percent or more of 
the outstanding common stock of the Company by an acquiring person in a non-permitted transaction.  Under 
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certain conditions, the rights will entitle holders, other than an acquirer in a non-permitted transaction, to purchase 
shares of common stock with a market value of two times the exercise price of the right.  The rights will expire in 
2012 unless extended. 

Deferred Compensation Trust 

On March 6, 2003, the SCST Executive Capital Accumulation Plan (the Capital Accumulation Plan) was amended 
to allow for the plan participants to invest in the Company’s common stock.  The Company’s Rabbi Trust, which 
holds the investments for the Capital Accumulation Plan, purchased 20,570 shares at an aggregate purchase price of 
$446,000 and sold 7,240 shares of the Company’s common stock at an aggregate sale price of $158,000 during the 
year ended December 31, 2004.  Additionally, the Company’s Rabbi Trust purchased 63,617 shares of the 
Company’s common stock at an aggregate purchase price of $760,000 during the year ended December 31, 2003.  
The Rabbi Trust shares are recorded by the Company in a manner similar to treasury stock at cost until either a 
change in investment election by a plan participant or a participant’s withdrawal from the Capital Accumulation 
Plan.  Changes in the value of shares held in the Rabbi Trust are recorded in net income and $0.4 million and $0.4 
million of expense was included in the 2004 and 2003 operating results, respectively. 

Directors’ Deferred Compensation  

In December 2003, the Company adopted the Directors’ Deferred Fee Plan.  Under the Directors’ Deferred Fee 
Plan, non-employee directors may defer all or a portion of their annual fees and retainers which are otherwise 
payable in the Company’s common stock.  Such deferrals are converted into units equivalent to the value of the 
Company’s stock.  Upon the directors’ termination, death or disability, accumulated deferrals are distributed in the 
form of Company common stock.  The Company has 2,948 shares reserved for issuance under the Directors’ 
Deferred Fee Plan at December 31, 2004.  The shares reserved for issuance under the Directors’ Deferred Fee Plan 
are treated as common stock equivalents in computing diluted earnings per share. 

9. Stock Options 

The Company reserved and made stock option grants for 1,280,742 shares of its common stock to certain 
management personnel of the Company and its operating subsidiaries under the “2002 Substitute Stock Option 
Plan”.  As a result of the Spin-off, on October 1, 2002, all Yellow stock options (Old Yellow Options) issued and 
outstanding to employees of SCST were replaced with SCST stock options (New SCST Options) with an intrinsic 
value identical to the value of the Old Yellow Options being replaced.  The number of New SCST Options and their 
exercise price was determined based on the relationship of the SCST stock price immediately after the Spin-off and 
the Yellow stock price immediately prior to the Spin-off.  The New SCST Options expire ten years from the date the 
Old Yellow Options were originally issued by Yellow.  The New SCST Options were fully vested at December 31, 
2004.   

In April 2003, the shareholders of the Company approved the 2003 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the 2003 Omnibus 
Plan) to allow the Company the ability to attract and retain outstanding executive, managerial, supervisory or 
professional employees and non-employee directors.  The Company has reserved 274,000 shares of its common 
stock under the 2003 Omnibus Plan.  The 2003 Omnibus Plan provides for the grant or award of stock options; stock 
appreciation rights; restricted and unrestricted stock; and cash performance unit awards. In addition, the 2003 
Omnibus Plan provides for the grant of shares of common stock to non-employee directors in lieu of at least 50 
percent (and up to 100 percent) of annual cash retainers and provides for an annual grant to each non-employee 
director of options for 5,000 shares of common stock.  Shares issued to non-employee directors in lieu of annual 
cash retainers were 1,053 and 7,407 shares in 2004 and 2003, respectively.  Non-employee directors were also 
issued 2,948 units equivalent to shares in the Company’s common stock under the Director Deferred Fee Plan in 
2004.  Non-employee directors were issued options for 20,000 and 37,500 shares in 2004 and 2003, respectively, in 
accordance with the 2003 Omnibus Plan.  The non-employee director stock options issued under the 2003 Omnibus 
Plan expire ten years from the date of grant; are exercisable six months after the date of grant; and have an exercise 
price equal to the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant.  Operating results 
included compensation expense of $0.2 million and $0.1 million in 2004 and 2003, respectively, for stock options 
issued after January 1, 2003. 
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The following table summarizes the activity of stock options: 

Weighted Weighted
average Options average

Options exercise price Exercisable exercise price
Outstanding at December 31, 2001          —    $    —    
Converted from Old Yellow Options 1,280,742   4.81   
Exercised (89,825)  4.35   
Outstanding at December 31, 2002 1,190,917   $  4.85   636,505    $5.22   
Granted 37,500   12.05   
Exercised (113,450)  4.92   
Forfeited (5,458)  4.36   
Outstanding at December 31, 2003 1,109,509   $  5.09   913,031    $5.24   
Granted 20,000   23.25   
Exercised (318,874)  5.42   
Outstanding at December 31, 2004 810,635   $  5.41   810,635    $5.41   

 
The weighted average fair value of the options converted from Old Yellow Options during 2002 was $4.52.  The 
weighted average fair value of options granted during 2003 was $3.79.  The weighted average fair value of options 
granted during 2004 was $7.67. 

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2004: 

 Number of Weighted  
options average Weighted Exercisable Weighted

outstanding at remaining average as of average
December 31, contractual exercise December 31, exercise

Range of Exercise Prices 2004 life (years) price 2004 price

$4.00 - $4.62  503,595   5.40   $  4.40 503,595   $  4.40
$4.81 - $6.61  257,040   3.50   5.21 257,040   5.21
$12.05  30,000   8.30   12.05 30,000   12.05
$23.25  20,000   9.30   23.25 20,000   23.25

 810,635   5.00   $  5.41 810,635    $  5.41

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

 
Under the Master Separation and Distribution Agreement, SCST replaced existing Old Yellow Options with New 
SCST Options of identical intrinsic value.  All options awarded at October 1, 2002 were in the money and 
substantially vested at the date of grant.  This resulted in a significant amount of SFAS No. 123 pro forma 
compensation expense for 2002, as the option exercise price was less than the market price of the underlying stock.  
The fair value of each option was estimated on the date of conversion with respect to New SCST Options and date 
of grant with respect to all other options using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.    

The following table summarizes the weighted average assumptions used in valuing options for the years ended 
December 31: 

2004 2003 2002

Risk free interest rate  4.40% 3.92% 4.06%
Expected life in years 3   3   4   
Expected volatility 42.00% 40.00% 40.00%
Dividend rate —    —    —    
Expected forfitures —    —    —    
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10. Employee Benefits 

Defined Contribution Plans 

The Company sponsors defined contribution plans.  The plans principally consist of contributory 401(k) savings 
plans and noncontributory profit sharing plans.  The Company’s contributions to the 401(k) savings plans consist of 
a fixed matching percentage.  The nondiscretionary Company match is 50 percent of the first six percent of an 
eligible employee’s contributions.  The Company’s total contributions for the years ended December 31, 2004, 
2003, and 2002, were $6.5 million, $5.7 million and $5.7 million, respectively. 

Deferred Compensation Plan 

The SCST Executive Capital Accumulation Plan (the Capital Accumulation Plan) is a nonqualified deferred 
compensation plan.  The plan participants in the Capital Accumulation Plan are certain executives within the 
Company.  On March 6, 2003, the Capital Accumulation Plan was amended to allow for the plan participants to 
invest in the Company’s common stock.  At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company’s Rabbi Trust, which holds 
the investments for the Capital Accumulation Plan, held 76,947 and 63,617 shares of the Company’s common stock, 
respectively, all of which were purchased on the open market.  The shares held by the Capital Accumulation Plan 
are treated similar to treasury shares and deducted from basic shares outstanding for purposes of calculating earnings 
per share.   

Annual Incentive Awards 

The Company provides annual cash performance incentive awards to employees, which are based primarily on 
actual operating results achieved compared to targeted operating results.  Operating results include performance 
incentive accruals for substantially all salaried employees (certain hourly employees included in 2002) of $7.2 
million, $5.9 million and $6.1 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.  Performance incentive awards for a 
year are primarily paid in the first quarter of the following year. 

Employee Stock Purchase Plan 

In January 2003, the Company adopted the Employee Stock Purchase Plan of SCS Transportation, Inc. (ESPP) 
allowing all eligible employees to purchase common stock of the Company at current market prices through payroll 
deductions of up to 10 percent of annual wages.  The custodian uses the funds to purchase the Company’s common 
stock at current market prices.  The custodian purchased 10,919 and 3,370 shares in the open market during 2004 
and 2003, respectively.   

Performance Unit Awards 

Under the 2003 Omnibus Plan, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors approved performance unit 
awards to a total of 19 management and executive employees.  The performance periods for these awards are 2003 – 
2005 and 2004 – 2006, three years from the date of issuance of these awards.  The criteria for payout of the awards 
is based on a comparison over three year periods of the total shareholder return (TSR) of the Company’s common 
stock compared to the TSR of the companies in the peer group set forth by the Compensation Committee.  The 
Company accrues amounts for such payments over the performance period and at each reporting date adjusts the 
accrual based upon the performance criteria set forth in the plan through the reporting date.  Operating results 
include accruals for the performance unit awards of $1.2 million and $0.9 million in 2004 and 2003, respectively.  
The performance unit awards will be paid in cash in the first quarter of the year following the end of the 
performance period. 

11. Income Taxes 

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with the liability method and under the Tax Indemnification 
and Allocation Agreement with the former Parent.  The Company’s income taxes are determined in accordance with 
the pro rata method through September 30, 2002.  The Company is included through September 30, 2002 in the 
consolidated federal income tax return filed by the former Parent. 

Deferred income taxes are determined based upon the difference between the book and the tax basis of the 
Company’s assets and liabilities.  Deferred taxes are provided at the enacted tax rates expected to be in effect when 
these differences reverse. 
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Deferred tax liabilities (assets) are comprised of the following at December 31, (in thousands): 

2004 2003

Depreciation $ 66,324    $ 59,892    
Other 3,478    4,595    
Revenue 3,169    2,423    

Gross tax liabilities 72,971    66,910    
Allowance for doubtful accounts (1,764)   (1,947)   
Employee benefits (6,079)   (5,666)   
Claims and insurance (11,802)   (15,552)   
Other (4,844)   (7,020)   
Revenue (1,543)   (1,816)   

Gross tax assets (26,032)   (32,001)   
Net tax liability $ 46,939    $ 34,909    

 
The Company has determined that a valuation allowance related to deferred tax assets was not necessary at 
December 31, 2004.  The Company estimates exposure for additional state income tax liability based on recent state 
legislative and legal outcomes.  The Company had income tax reserves of approximately $1.8 million at December 
31, 2004, which is included in current income taxes principally for these state income tax issues.  

The income tax provision consists of the following (in thousands): 

2004 2003 2002
Current:

U.S. federal $   686    $  7,348    $ 11,626    
State 112    1,247    1,193    

Total current 798    8,595    12,819    
Deferred:

U.S. federal 10,362    354    (3,578)   
State 992    30    (340)   

Total deferred 11,354    384    (3,918)   
Total provision $ 12,152    $  8,979    $   8,901    

 
A reconciliation between income taxes at the federal statutory rate (35 percent) and the provision follows: 

2004 2003 2002

Provision at federal statutory rate $ 10,994   $ 8,369   $ 7,336   
State income taxes, net 1,052   727   697   
Nondeductible business expenses 779   895   868   
Favorable resolution of various tax matters (619)  —    —    
Net operating loss carryforwards —    (956)  —    
Other, net (54)  (56)  —    

Total provision $ 12,152   $ 8,979   $ 8,901   
 

In 2003, the Company recorded a tax benefit for previously unrecognized state operating loss carryforwards of 
approximately $1.0 million due to changes in state tax laws enacted in 2003. 

12. Business Segments 

The Company has two operating subsidiaries (Saia and Jevic) that are reportable segments.  Each of these segments 
is a strategic business unit offering different products and services.   

The segments are managed separately because each requires different operating, technology and marketing 
strategies.  The segment’s performance is evaluated primarily on operating income and return on capital. 

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting 
policies.  Interest and intersegment transactions are recorded at current market rates.  Management fees and other 
corporate services are charged to the segments based on direct benefit received or allocated based on revenue.   
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The following table summarizes the Company’s operations by business segment (in thousands). 

Corporate
Saia* Jevic and Other Consolidated

2004
Operating revenue $645,374    $336,896    $      —    $982,270    
Operating income 35,823    8,886    (3,875)   40,834    
Identifiable assets 348,443    148,547    11,748    508,738    
Capital expenditures, net* 41,877    14,563    3    56,443    
Depreciation and amortization 27,846    20,070    52    47,968    

2003
Operating revenue $520,668    $306,691    $      —    $827,359    
Operating income 27,710    9,434    (4,262)   32,882    
Identifiable assets 286,899    146,895    30,272    464,066    
Capital expenditures, net 31,506    18,227    97    49,830    
Depreciation and amortization 23,946    20,053    40    44,039    

2002
Operating revenue $489,832    $285,604    $      —    $775,436    
Operating income 21,922    5,793    (485)   27,230    
Identifiable assets 274,403    148,851    21,089    444,343    
Capital expenditures, net 23,108    1,484    200    24,792    
Depreciation and amortization 23,716    21,189    15    44,920    

*  Excludes capital expenditures of $23,549 for the acquisition of Clark Bros. in 2004. 
 

13. Summary of Quarterly Operating Results (unaudited) 

(Amounts in thousands, except per share data)  

Three months ended, 2004 March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31

Operating revenue $ 225,276    $ 248,232    $ 256,824    $ 251,938    
Operating income 6,788    11,391    13,516    9,139    
Net income 2,607    5,473    6,552    4,627    

Basic earnings per share $  0.18    $  0.37    $  0.44    $  0.31    

Diluted earnings per share $  0.17    $  0.36    $  0.43    $  0.30    

 

Three months ended, 2003 March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31

Operating revenue $200,110    $208,263    $211,530    $207,456    
Operating income 4,516    8,905    11,158    8,303    

Net income 1,326    3,923    5,130    4,554    

Basic earnings per share $  0.09    $  0.27    $  0.35    $  0.31    

Diluted earnings per share $  0.09    $  0.26    $  0.34    $  0.30    
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14. Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 

For the Years Ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002  
(in thousands) 

Col. A Col. B Col. C Col. D Col. E
Additions

-1- -2-
Balance, Charged to Charged to Balance,

beginning costs and other Deductions- end of
Description of period expenses accounts describe (1) period

Year ended December 31, 2004:
Deducted from asset account –

Allowance for uncollectible
accounts $5,118    1,998    116    (2,634)   $4,598    

Year ended December 31, 2003:
Deducted from asset account –

Allowance for uncollectible
accounts $6,878    2,051    —    (3,811)   $5,118    

Year ended December 31, 2002:
Deducted from asset account –

Allowance for uncollectible
accounts $6,809    3,924    —    (3,855)   $6,878    

(1)     Primarily uncollectible accounts written off – net of recoveries.

(2)     Reserves acquired with the acquisition of Clark Bros.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 

None. 

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures  

Annual Controls Evaluation and Related CEO and CFO Certifications 

As of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the Company conducted an evaluation of 
the effectiveness of the design and operation of its “disclosure controls and procedures” (Disclosure Controls). The 
controls evaluation was done under the supervision and with the participation of management, including the 
Company’s Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Chief Financial Officer (CFO). 

Based upon the controls evaluation, the Company’s CEO and CFO have concluded that, subject to the limitations 
noted below, as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the Company’s Disclosure 
Controls were effective to provide reasonable assurance that material information relating to SCST and its 
consolidated subsidiaries is made known to management, including the CEO and CFO, particularly during the 
period when SCST’s periodic reports are being prepared. 

During the fourth quarter of 2004, there have been no material changes in internal control over financial reporting or 
in other factors that could materially affect internal control over financial reporting, including any corrective actions 
with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses. 

Attached as Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 to this Annual Report are certifications of the CEO and the CFO, which are 
required in accord with Rule 13a-14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the Exchange Act). This Controls and 
Procedures section includes the information concerning the controls evaluation referred to in the certifications and it 
should be read in conjunction with the certifications.  Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial 
Reporting is included in this Form 10-K. 

Definition of Disclosure Controls 

Disclosure Controls are controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the 
Company’s reports filed under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported timely. 
Disclosure Controls are also designed to ensure that such information is accumulated and communicated to the 
Company’s management, including the CEO and CFO, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required 
disclosure. The Company’s Disclosure Controls include components of its internal control over financial reporting, 
which consists of control processes designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of SCST’s 
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles.  

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls 

The Company’s management, including the CEO and CFO, does not expect that its Disclosure Controls or its 
internal control over financial reporting will prevent all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well 
designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system’s objectives will 
be met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the 
benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control 
systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if 
any, within the Company have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in 
decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Controls can also 
be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management 
override of the controls. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to 
error or fraud may occur and not be detected. 

Item 9B. Other Information  

None. 
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PART III. 

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant  
  
Information regarding members of the Board of Directors, identification of audit committee members and 
procedures for recommending nominees to the Board of Directors will be presented in SCST’s definitive proxy 
statement for its annual meeting of stockholders, which will be held on April 20, 2005, and is incorporated herein by 
reference. Information regarding executive officers of SCST is included above in Part I of this Form 10-K under the 
caption “Executive Officers of the Registrant” pursuant to Instruction 3 to Item 401(b) of Regulation S-K and 
General Instruction G (3) of Form 10-K.  
  
Item 11. Executive Compensation  
  
Information regarding executive compensation will be presented in SCST’s definitive proxy statement for its annual 
meeting of stockholders, which will be held on April 20, 2005, and is incorporated herein by reference.  
  
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder 

Matters  
  
Information regarding security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management and related stockholder 
matters will be presented in SCST’s definitive proxy statement for its annual meeting of stockholders, which will be 
held on April 20, 2005, and is incorporated herein by reference.  
  
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions  
 
Information regarding certain relationships and related party transactions will be presented in SCST’s definitive 
proxy statement for its annual meeting of stockholders, which will be held on April 20, 2005, and is incorporated 
herein by reference.  

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services  

Information regarding accountant fees and services will be presented in SCST’s definitive proxy statement for its 
annual meeting of stockholders, which will be held on April 20, 2005, and is incorporated herein by reference.  
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PART IV. 
 
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules  

(a)  1.  Financial Statements  

The consolidated financial statements required by this item are included in Item 8, “Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Data” herein.  

2.  Financial Statement Schedules  

The Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts financial statement schedule is included in Note 14 to 
the consolidated financial statements contained herein.  All other financial statement schedules have been 
omitted because they are not applicable.  

3.  Exhibits  

Exhibits 3.1, 3.2, 4.1, 10.1 through 10.18, 14, 21, 23.1, 31.1, 31.2, 32.1 and 32.2 are being filed in connection 
with this Report or incorporated herein by reference.  The Exhibit Index on page E-1 is incorporated herein 
by reference.  

(b)  Exhibits 

Exhibits 3.1, 3.2, 4.1, 10.1 through 10.18, 14, 21, 23.1, 31.1, 31.2, 32.1 and 32.2 are being filed in connection 
with this Report or incorporated herein by reference.  The Exhibit Index on page E-1 is incorporated herein 
by reference.  

(c) Separate Financial Statements 

None. 
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SIGNATURE 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly 
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.  

    SCS TRANSPORTATION, INC. 
 
Date:    February 18, 2005 

 
 By: 

 
         /s/ James J. Bellinghausen 

James J. Bellinghausen 
Vice President of Finance and  
Chief Financial Officer 

 
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the 
following persons on behalf of the registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 
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Exhibit 
Number   Description of Exhibit  

3.1  Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of SCS Transportation, Inc. (incorporated herein by 
reference to Exhibit 3.1 of SCS Transportation, Inc.’s Form 10-Q (File No. 0-49983) for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2002). 

3.2  Amended and Restated By-laws of SCS Transportation, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 
3.2 of SCS Transportation, Inc.’s Form 10-Q (File No. 0-49983) for the quarter ended September 30, 
2002). 

4.1   Rights Agreement between SCS Transportation, Inc. and Mellon Investor Services LLC dated as of 
September 30, 2002 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of SCS Transportation, Inc.’s Form 
10-Q (File No. 0-49983) for the quarter ended September 30, 2002). 

10.1   Agented Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of September 20, 2002, among SCS Transportation, Inc. 
and Bank of Oklahoma, N.A., U.S. Bank National Association, Bank One, NA, and Harris Trust and 
Savings Bank, and Bank of Oklahoma, N.A., as agent for the Banks (incorporated herein by reference to 
Exhibit 10.1 of SCS Transportation, Inc.’s Form 8-K (File No. 0-49983) filed on October 2, 2002). 

10.2   Amendment One to Agented Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of November 14, 2003, among SCS 
Transportation, Inc. and Bank of Oklahoma, N.A., U.S. Bank National Association, Bank One, NA, and 
Harris Trust and Savings Bank, and Bank of Oklahoma, N.A., as agent for the Banks (incorporated herein 
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of SCS Transportation, Inc.’s Form 8-K (File No. 0-49983) filed on 
November 17, 2003). 

10.3   Senior Notes Master Shelf Agreement dated as of September 20, 2002 (incorporated herein by reference 
to Exhibit 10.2 of SCS Transportation, Inc.’s Form 8-K (File No. 0-49983) filed on October 2, 2002). 

10.4   Master Separation and Distribution Agreement between Yellow Corporation and SCS Transportation, Inc. 
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of SCS Transportation, Inc.’s Form 10-Q (File No. 0-
49983) for the quarter ended September 30, 2002). 

10.5   Tax Indemnification and Allocation Agreement between Yellow Corporation and SCS Transportation, 
Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of SCS Transportation, Inc.’s Form 10-Q (File No. 
0-49983) for the quarter ended September 30, 2002). 

10.6   Employment Agreement between SCS Transportation, Inc. and Herbert A. Trucksess, III dated as of 
November 20, 2002 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of SCS Transportation, Inc.’s Form 
10-K (File No. 0-49983) for the year ended December 31, 2002). 

10.7   Employment Agreement between SCS Transportation, Inc., Saia Motor Freight Line, Inc. and Richard D. 
O’Dell dated as of November 20, 2002 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of SCS 
Transportation, Inc.’s Form 10-K (File No. 0-49983) for the year ended December 31, 2002). 

10.8   Employment Agreement between SCS Transportation, Inc., Jevic Transportation, Inc. and Paul J. Karvois 
dated as of November 20, 2002 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.7 of SCS Transportation, 
Inc.’s Form 10-K (File No. 0-49983) for the year ended December 31, 2002). 

10.9   Executive Severance Agreement between SCS Transportation, Inc. and Herbert A. Trucksess, III dated as 
of September 28, 2002 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of SCS Transportation, Inc.’s 
Form 10-K (File No. 0-49983) for the year ended December 31, 2002). 

10.10   Form of Executive Severance Agreement dated as of September 28, 2002 entered into between SCS 
Transportation, Inc. and Richard D. O’Dell, Paul J. Karvois, James J. Bellinghausen, John P. Burton and 
David J. Letke (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.9 of SCS Transportation, Inc.’s Form 10-K 
(File No. 0-49983) for the year ended December 31, 2002). 

10.11   Amendment to Employment Agreement between SCS Transportation, Inc. and Herbert A. Trucksess, III 
dated as of December 4, 2003 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.11 of SCS Transportation, 
Inc.’s Form 10-K (File No. 0-49983) for the year ended December 31, 2003). 

10.12   Stock Purchase Agreement dated February 16, 2004, by and among Saia Motor Freight Line, Inc. and 
James D. Clark, Janice A. Clark, Amy L. Hunt, G.J. Deyonge, and Stuart W. Kutler Trust Under Trust 
Agreement Dated January 28,1998 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.12 of SCS 
Transportation, Inc.’s Form 10-K (File No. 0-49983) for the year ended December 31, 2003). 
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Exhibit 
Number   Description of Exhibit  

   
10.13  SCS Transportation, Inc. 2003 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit B of 

SCS Transportation, Inc.’s Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A (File No. 0-49983) filed on 
March 14, 2003). 

10.14   First Amendment to the SCS Transportation, Inc. 2003 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by 
reference to Exhibit 10.14 of SCS Transportation, Inc.’s Form 10-K (File No. 0-49983) for the year ended 
December 31, 2003).  

10.15  SCS Transportation, Inc. Directors’ Deferred Fee Plan as adopted December 11, 2003 (incorporated 
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.15 of SCS Transportation, Inc.’s Form 10-K (File No. 0-49983) for the 
year ended December 31, 2003). 

10.16  Restated Agented Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of January 31, 2005, among SCS Transportation, 
Inc. and Bank of Oklahoma, N.A., JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., U.S. Bank National Association, Harris 
Trust and Savings Bank, and LaSalle Bank National Association and Bank of Oklahoma, N.A., as agent 
for the Banks and related, Guarantee Agreements, Promissory Notes and Certificate of the Secretary and 
Officer (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of SCS Transportation, Inc.’s Form 8-K (File 
No. 0-49983) filed on February 4, 2005).   

10.17  Form of Performance Unit Award Agreement under the SCS Transportation, Inc. 2003 Omnibus Incentive 
Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of SCS Transportation Inc.’s Form 8-K (File No. 0-
49983) filed on January 31, 2005). 

10.18  Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement under the SCS Transportation, Inc. 2003 Omnibus 
Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of SCS Transportation Inc.’s Form 8-K 
(File No. 0-49983) filed on February 9, 2005). 

14  Code of Ethics 
21   Subsidiaries of Registrant. 

23.1   Consent of KPMG LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm. 
31.1   Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e). 
31.2   Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e). 
32.1   Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to 

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
32.2   Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to 

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
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G L O S S A R Y  O F  T E R M S

Bi l l s  per  Hour – A productivity 
measurement used to express the degree 
of efficiency in terms of shipments (bills) 
per paid employee hour. Is used when 
referencing dock bills per hour and P&D
bills per hour.

Breakbu lk – A facility that in addition to
local pickup and delivery operations also
performs transfer service. It may also be
referred to as a hub or distribution and 
consolidation center.

Cons ignee – The receiver of a shipment
of goods.

Dens i t y – A measurement of the amount
of volume for a particular component of
capacity, including measures such as bills
per pick-up stop and revenue per terminal.

Dock – The loading and unloading 
area within a terminal usually ringed with
doors against which trailers are parked for
processing. The number of loading and
unloading doors generally equates to the
capacity of a terminal. 

Fue l  Surcharge – A program in place
with virtually all LTL carriers and most 
TL carriers to adjust the base price by a
percentage to offset the impact of rising 
(or falling) fuel prices. The percentage 
adjustment usually changes weekly 
and is based on a government index 
of prices at the pump.

Length  o f  Hau l – The average 
distance traveled by all shipments.

L inehau l – Denotes those operations 
that are associated with the movement 
of freight between terminals or those 
operations that extend beyond the 
geography of a terminal area.

Load Average – A linehaul trailer capac-
ity measurement that takes into account the
number of loaded trailers, miles and weight.
It is the standard efficiency benchmark for
linehaul operations.

Log is t ics -Post  Tra i le rs – Trailers
equipped with slotted interior walls and 
support bars that allow for multiple “floors”
to be constructed within the trailer. These
“floors” optimize weight capacity and
reduce claims from damage in transit. 

LTL – Less than Truckload. Generally refers
to those shipments that have individual
weights of less than 10,000 lbs.

Opera t ing  Rat io – The ratio of operat-
ing expenses divided by operating revenue.

P&D – Pickup and Delivery. Denotes those
operations that are associated with freight
movement within a local terminal area.

Purchased Transpor t a t ion – The
use of other motor carriers to provide 
linehaul services, but can include local pick-
up and delivery in certain circumstances.
The service is usually contracted on a single
load transaction and may be mileage-based
compensation.

Termina l – A facility or service center 
that conducts local pickup and delivery
operations and may also be referred to as 
a satellite, end-of-line or origination facility.

TL – Truckload. Generally refers to those
shipments that have individual weights
exceeding 10,000 lbs, including those 
single shipments that completely fill a 48’ 
or 53’ trailer.

Yie ld – A measurement of the pricing
quality of shipments. It is usually expressed
as revenue per hundredweight.

In this report, some "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 are made. These "forward-looking
statements" and all other statements that are made in this report that are not historical facts are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, and actual

results may differ materially. Please refer to our recent SEC filings for more information on the risk factors that could cause actual results to differ.
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